INSTITUTE FOR GLOBAL PROSPERITY

COURSEWORK TITLE

Colonial Legacies, Climate Change, and Food Insecurity: Decolonizing Development in the Philippines

CANDIDATE NUMBER: FWZD4

Natassja Selvarajah

MODULE CODE: BGLP0021

WORD COUNT: 14,512

IGP MSc COURSEWORK

DECLARATION OF OWNERSHIP AND COPYRIGHT FORM

1. DECLARATION OF OWNERSHIP

I confirm that I have read and understood the guidelines on plagiarism produced by IGP and UCL, that I understand the meaning of plagiarism as defined in those guidelines, and that I may be penalised for submitting work that has been plagiarised.

This piece of coursework must be submitted electronically through Turnitin on Moodle by the stipulated deadline. I understand that the coursework cannot be assessed unless it is submitted online and that penalties will be applied for late submissions as per UCL and IGP guidelines unless there is an approved case for Extenuating Circumstances or Reasonable Adjustments.

I declare that all material is entirely my own work except where explicitly, clearly and individually indicated and that all sources used in its preparation and all quotations are clearly cited using a recognised system for referencing and citation. Should this statement prove to be untrue, I recognise the right of the Board of Examiners to recommend disciplinary action in line with UCL regulations.

2. COPYRIGHT

The copyright of the coursework remains with me as its author. However, I understand that anonymised copies may be made available to future students for reference. Please, tick the box if you DO NOT want this report to be made available for teaching purposes.

Abstract:

The discourse surrounding climate change and food security in the Philippines, Southeast Asia's most food-insecure nation, is deeply entrenched in colonial narratives, perpetuating power imbalances and hindering effective responses to these issues. Vulnerable communities are disproportionately impacted by climate change and food insecurity and experience the ramifications of historical colonialism, which shapes the existing economic structures and marginalizes access to resources and decision-making processes. This dissertation aims to analyze how coloniality of power is continuously reproduced and perpetuates climate change and food security issues in the Philippines while also exploring decolonizing development approaches, such as food sovereignty, to disrupt neocolonial power relations, foster resilience, and address systemic inequalities. This dissertation will build on conflict and postcolonial theory, discourse analysis, and environmental justice concepts to investigate how colonialism has influenced contemporary discourse surrounding sustainability, climate change, and food security. These theories will contribute to understanding the intersections between power dynamics, colonial legacies, and environmental degradation. This dissertation will address these questions: (1) How do colonial narratives shape discourse surrounding climate change and food security in the Philippines, and what are the implications for vulnerable communities? (2) What mechanisms link colonialism to climate change and food insecurity, and how do neocolonial power relations perpetuate these challenges? (3) How can development be decolonized, and what role does food sovereignty play in challenging existing narratives to promote more equitable food systems? The methodology I will employ in this research is qualitative, focusing on discourse analysis to explore the linguistic, cultural, and socio-political dimensions within the Philippine agricultural history. This historical perspective is essential for tracing the processes that have led to contemporary structural inequalities. The study will then review relevant literature, engage with theoretical frameworks such as post-colonialism and political ecology, and analyze contemporary policy documents and political discourse to provide a comprehensive understanding of these issues.

Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	6
Background	6
Climate Change and Food Security Issues in the Philippines	8
Research Objectives and Questions	11
Significance of the Study	12
Literature Review	13
Chapter 2: Theoretical Frameworks and Colonial Legacies in the Philippines	18
Theoretical Pinnings of Conflict and Postcolonial Theory	18
Discourse Analysis and Environmental Justice	21
Methodology	23
Chapter 3: Colonial Narratives and Climate Change Discourse	27
Historical Roots of Colonialism	27
Colonial Narratives in Contemporary Climate Change Discourse	28
Implications for Vulnerable Communities	29
Chapter 4: Findings and Analysis	
Coloniality of Power in Policy	30
Colonial Dependency	31
Government as Savior	32
International Cooperation versus Local Action	34
Economic Exploitation and Inequality	35
Chapter 5: Mechanisms Linking Colonialism to Climate Change	
Historical Continuities in Land Use and Agricultural Policies	
Perpetuation of Inequalities Through Neocolonial Power Relations	38
Chapter 6: Potential for Resilience through Decolonizing Development Approaches	
Food Sovereignty and Resilience	
Decommodifying Food through Commoning	43
Integrating Indigenous Knowledge and Practices	44
Empowerment Through Local Governance and Community-Led Initiatives	46
Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion	48
Implications for Policy and Practice	48
Limitations and Future Research	50
Conclusion	52
References	55

Appendix

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background

The Philippines, with its rich cultural history and diverse ecosystems, faces complex challenges related to climate change and food security, deeply intertwined with its colonial past. Since 1850, humanity has emitted approximately 2,558 billion tonnes of CO2, raising global temperatures by 1.15°C above pre-industrial levels (Staff, 2023). However, the responsibility for this environmental degradation is unevenly distributed as wealthier nations, which historically exploited resources during the colonial era, have disproportionately contributed to this crisis, reflecting enduring patterns of global inequality (Beinart et al., 2009; Staff, 2023).

Colonial powers imposed agricultural practices designed to maximize economic returns, often at the expense of local communities and ecosystems. These practices prioritized monoculture and cash crop production, fundamentally altering indigenous food systems and contributing to widespread environmental degradation (Iyer, Maurer, and School, n.d.); Mahajani, 1974). Therefore, it can be argued that the nation's current vulnerability to climate change is not only a consequence of natural phenomena but also historical exploitation and the ongoing impacts of these colonial practices.

The modern/colonial food system, as articulated by Montalvo and Zandi (2019), exemplifies these historical processes by commodifying both land and bodies, treating them as mere objects for economic gain. This system has disrupted the intrinsic connection between people and their ancestral lands, leading to cultural alienation and environmental degradation. This commodification process, driven by the logic of capital accumulation, has displaced traditional foodways and imposed agricultural practices that are ecologically destructive and socially alienating. This disruption of the land-body relationship has exacerbated the vulnerabilities of marginalized communities to the impacts of climate change, underscoring the need for decolonizing approaches that restore these vital connections (Montalvo & Zandi, 2019).

In addition to environmental challenges, the Philippines also faces severe issues of poverty and food insecurity, as approximately 17 percent of Filipinos, or about 16.4 million people, do not meet their basic nutritional needs (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2012). Poverty affects a quarter of the population, with around 24.2 million people living below the poverty line (World Bank Group, 2012). These issues are most acute among indigenous peoples and small-scale farmers, who are disproportionately impacted by both poverty and food insecurity (International Fund for Agricultural Development, 2009). Factors contributing to this situation include ineffective land reform policies dating back to 1988, which have failed to dismantle the inequitable land holdings established during Spanish colonialism (Bello, 2001). Additionally, the expansion of industrial plantations by multinational agricultural companies -focused on crops like palm oil, banana, and pineapple-has exacerbated landlessness and poverty among smallholder farmers (Franco & Borras, 2007). Furthermore, large-scale mining operations have further compounded these issues by destroying landscapes and watersheds, undermining the livelihoods of local communities, while also contributing to the ongoing concentration of wealth and power in the hands of a few (Ballesteros & de la Cruz, 2006; Borras, 2007; CEC-Philippines, 2012).

The issue of food security in the Philippines must be viewed within the broader context of Asia, where varying levels of economic development and agricultural productivity exist. The region is characterized by diverse climates, cultures, and political systems, all of which influence food production and distribution. In the Philippines, as in other parts of Asia, food security is not merely a matter of food availability but also of access, utilization, and stability. Economic policies, government interventions, and the global food trade play crucial roles in shaping the country's food security landscape. The integration of the Philippines into the global market has increased its dependency on food imports, making it vulnerable to international price fluctuations and trade policies (Briones, Cajiuat, & Ramos, 1998).

Moreover, the historical context of land ownership in the Philippines, rooted in colonialism, has led to a highly inequitable distribution of land resources, with a few elite families controlling vast agricultural lands. This unequal land distribution has hindered the development of a more inclusive and sustainable agricultural sector, exacerbating poverty and food insecurity among rural populations. The persistence of feudal landholding patterns, coupled with inadequate agrarian reforms, has prevented many small-scale farmers from gaining secure land tenure, limiting their ability to invest in and improve their agricultural practices (Briones, Cajiuat, & Ramos, 1998).

In light of these challenges, various studies and reports have highlighted the need for agrarian systems that promote community empowerment, diversity, synergy, recycling, and integration to address inequalities, resource limitations, and ecological degradation while enhancing climate resilience (De Schutter, 2010; McIntyre et al., 2009; United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2013). Smallholder farmers, in particular, have been credited with enhancing resilience by adapting traditional techniques such as the use of local crop varieties, water harvesting, diversified agroforestry, soil conservation, and farmer-breeding practices (Altieri & Koohafkan, 2008; Bachmann, Cruzada, & Wright, 2009; Holt-Giménez, 2002). However, athough these methods have promise, there is still a need for real-world evaluation and agreement on the best ways to successfully establish and evaluate the effectiveness of diverse, small-scale farming systems in securing food and sustainable livelihoods while addressing climate change through adaptation and mitigation strategies. (Altieri, Funes-Monzote, & Petersen, 2012; Lin et al., 2011).

Climate Change and Food Security Issues in the Philippines

The Philippines, situated in the Pacific Ring of Fire, is highly vulnerable to natural hazards such as typhoons, floods, earthquakes, and volcanic eruptions. Climate change has exacerbated these risks, resulting in more frequent and severe weather events, including intensified typhoons, unpredictable rainfall, and rising sea levels. These environmental challenges pose significant threats to the nation's agricultural productivity, food security, and socio-economic stability (Holden, 2018; Heckelman & Wittman, 2015).

Agriculture remains a cornerstone of the Philippine economy, particularly in rural areas where a large portion of the population depends on crop production, fisheries, and livestock for their livelihoods. However, the sector is increasingly strained by climate change, leading to crop failures, reduced agricultural yields, and the degradation of natural resources. These issues are further compounded by inadequate infrastructure, limited access to modern farming technologies, and insufficient support for smallholder farmers (Camba, 2018; Davidson, 2016). The nation's reliance on imported food products also heightens its vulnerability to global market fluctuations and trade disruptions, exacerbating food insecurity, especially among marginalized communities (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Smith, 2019).

According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), food security is the state in which everyone has the physical, social, and economic means to access a sufficient, safe, and nutritious food supply that fulfills their dietary requirements for a healthy and active life. (FAO, 2006). Despite this, from 2020 to 2022, nearly 51 million Filipinos faced food insecurity—the highest in Southeast Asia—highlighting the severe impact of climate change on the country's agriculture and overall socio-economic environment (Mendoza, 2024).

Under the administration of President Ferdinand Marcos Jr., the government pledged to implement transformative reforms to secure a stable food supply and maintain affordable prices. However, the reality has been starkly different. According to the FAO, the cost of maintaining a nutritious diet rose from P226.60 in 2017 to P242.53 in 2020, reflecting a troubling trend that challenges the administration's promises (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2020).

Government policies, such as the Rice Tariffication Law, initially aimed at boosting supply and controlling rising prices, have had adverse effects. These policies have weakened domestic rice production, with local farmers experiencing a 35% drop in income between 2018 and 2020, pushing many deeper into poverty (International Rice Research Institute, 2020). The government's reliance on imports has further exacerbated food insecurity, leaving the agricultural sector increasingly vulnerable to external economic pressures (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Mendoza, 2024).

Moreover, recent measures, such as the allocation of P1 billion for fuel subsidies and the introduction of rice price ceilings, have provided only temporary relief. These initiatives have often backfired, as price controls have forced farmers to sell crops at lower prices,

compromising quality and further straining their already precarious financial situation. The introduction of a food stamps program funded by the Asian Development Bank offers only short-term relief, underscoring the inadequacy of these responses to address the deeper, systemic issues at play (Asian Development Bank, 2023; Mendoza, 2024).

Thus, tackling the root causes of food insecurity in the Philippines requires a shift towards long-term strategies that prioritize self-sufficiency, enhance local agricultural production, and reduce dependence on imports. The current policies under Marcos's leadership have highlighted significant gaps in the support provided to the most vulnerable populations, necessitating a more comprehensive and sustainable approach to food security (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Mendoza, 2024).

Introduction to the Prevalence of Colonial Narratives in Shaping Discourse The complexities of climate change and food security in the Philippines are deeply rooted in the country's colonial history, which has profoundly influenced its agricultural practices, land use, and socio-economic structures. Spanish colonization, beginning in the 16th century, introduced the encomienda system, which exploited indigenous labor for the benefit of the Spanish empire, leading to widespread land dispossession and the disruption of traditional food systems (Forster, 2024; Lockhart, 1969).

This colonial legacy was further entrenched during the American occupation in the early 20th century, which emphasized a market-driven agricultural economy focused on cash crops for export rather than local food needs. This shift established land ownership patterns that favored a few elite families while marginalizing smallholder farmers and indigenous communities—a structure that persists today (Mahajani, 1974; Camba, 2018).

In modern times, these colonial legacies continue to shape the discourse on climate change and food security. The globalized food system, driven by neoliberal economic policies, often perpetuates colonial narratives by prioritizing industrial agriculture and foreign investment over local, sustainable practices. This system commodifies land, food, and natural resources, viewing them as economic assets rather than integral parts of local livelihoods and cultural identities (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Ferrando et al., 2021). As a result, the most vulnerable communities – those most affected by climate change and food insecurity are frequently excluded from decision-making processes, limiting their access to necessary resources for climate adaptation (Smith, 2019). These colonial narratives are reinforced through media and policy-making processes, which often favor Western technological solutions and market-based approaches while marginalizing indigenous knowledge and sustainable practices (Warren, 2020; Holden, 2018). This ongoing cycle of exploitation and marginalization ensures that the benefits of development remain unevenly distributed, with the most vulnerable populations continuing to bear the brunt of environmental and socio-economic challenges.

Research Objectives and Questions

The primary objective of this research is to explore the influence of colonial legacies on contemporary climate change and food security policies in the Philippines. This study will examine how these historical influences continue to shape policy frameworks, with a particular focus on marginalized communities. Additionally, the research will investigate the potential for decolonizing development strategies to address these challenges effectively. By conducting a critical analysis of policy documents, academic literature, and public discourse, this research will provide a comprehensive understanding of the power dynamics that underpin these issues.

The research will address the following questions:

- How do colonial narratives influence the discourse surrounding climate change and food security in the Philippines?
- What are the specific mechanisms by which colonialism and capitalist commodification of food and land perpetuate climate change and food insecurity?
- How can decolonizing approaches, like food sovereignty, be employed to challenge these power structures and promote more equitable and sustainable food systems?

Significance of the Study

This study is significant in its critical examination of the enduring legacies of colonialism and their ongoing impact on climate change and food security in the Philippines. By exploring the intersections of colonialism, capitalism, and environmental degradation, the research seeks to uncover the power structures that have perpetuated inequalities and vulnerabilities, particularly among marginalized communities.

Understanding the colonial origins of environmental and food insecurity is essential for developing more equitable and sustainable policies. The Philippines' colonial history has profoundly shaped its agricultural practices, land use policies, and socio-economic structures (Mahajani, 1974; Camba, 2018). The modern/colonial food system exemplifies how colonial exploitation has institutionalized the commodification of land and bodies, disrupting traditional foodways and degrading ecological systems (Montalvo & Zandi, 2019). This historical context is crucial for addressing the present-day challenges the Philippines faces in achieving food security and climate resilience.

The research further emphasizes the importance of decolonizing development approaches, particularly food sovereignty, which challenges the dominant neoliberal paradigms that prioritize industrial agriculture and foreign investment over local, sustainable practices (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015). By advocating for the integration of indigenous knowledge systems into climate adaptation strategies, the study highlights the potential for creating more inclusive and resilient food systems that prioritize the needs of vulnerable populations, including indigenous peoples and smallholder farmers (Ferrando et al., 2021; Smith, 2019).

The findings of this study are expected to provide valuable insights into how colonial narratives continue to influence policy-making and public discourse in the Philippines. As climate change impacts intensify, it becomes increasingly important to understand the colonial roots of the challenges faced by countries like the Philippines. By exposing these colonial underpinnings, this research aims to inform more just and effective policy interventions, contributing to a future where development strategies are inclusive, environmentally sound, and responsive to the needs of all communities, especially those most

vulnerable to climate change (Briones, Cajiuat & Ramos, 1998; Davila, 2018; Mahony & Endfield, 2018).

Literature Review

Understanding the Intersection of Colonial Legacies and Climate Change in the Philippines To thoroughly understand the Philippines' challenges in adapting to climate change, it is essential to recognize the deep interconnections between climate change, colonial legacies, environmental vulnerabilities, and socio-economic disparities. Climate change is not merely an environmental issue but a profoundly political one, deeply embedded in the sociohistorical context of the Philippines. The colonial history of the country, combined with its current environmental and economic vulnerabilities, shapes the complex landscape of food security and climate adaptation challenges it faces today (Wainwright & Mann, 2018; Malm, 2021; Saito, 2022). Recognizing the political nature of climate change allows for a more nuanced approach, one that addresses the root causes of these challenges and fosters more effective solutions.

Colonialism has left an indelible mark on the Philippines, influencing everything from agricultural practices to socio-economic structures. As noted by Wainwright and Mann (2018), the country's historical context is crucial for understanding its current environmental and socio-economic challenges. Colonial powers imposed agricultural systems designed for economic exploitation, which prioritized monoculture and cash crop production over traditional, sustainable practices (Iyer, Maurer and School, n.d.); Mahajani, 1974). This shift not only degraded the environment but also disrupted indigenous food systems, leading to long-term vulnerabilities.

Further expanding on these colonial impacts, Montalvo and Zandi (2019) in "The Modern/ Colonial Food System in a Paradigm of War," describe how the modern/colonial food system commodified both land and human bodies, reducing them to mere economic assets. This system severed the deep connections between people and their ancestral lands, leading to cultural alienation and environmental degradation. The commodification process, driven by the logic of capital accumulation, displaced traditional foodways and imposed agricultural practices that are ecologically destructive and socially alienating. As a result, the disruption of the land-body relationship has exacerbated the vulnerabilities of marginalized communities to the impacts of climate change, underscoring the need for decolonizing approaches that restore these vital connections (Montalvo & Zandi, 2019).

Colonial Narratives and Climate Change Discourse

The discourse surrounding climate change and food security in the Philippines is deeply entrenched in colonial narratives that perpetuate power imbalances and hinder effective responses to these pressing issues. The paper "Commons and Commoning for a Just Agroecological Transition" by Ferrando et al. (2021) emphasizes the importance of decolonizing and de-commodifying the food system to achieve a just agroecological transition. The authors highlight the need to challenge dominant narratives and reimagine alternative futures, focusing on how the urban food system's roots in colonialism and commodification have transformed food and nature into cheap commodities. Ferrando et al. argue that commons-based food systems, which prioritize collective governance, sustainable resource use, and equitable distribution, offer a viable alternative to the industrial and capitalist food system, which is characterized by resource accumulation and exploitation for profit.

The historical impact of colonialism on the discourse surrounding climate change and food security in the Philippines is further explored in Pascual's work *Hidden Voices: Re-examining the Conquest of the Philippines*, which discusses the Spanish conquest's profound impact on indigenous communities. Pascual (2023) highlights how colonial powers suppressed indigenous voices, limiting their participation in shaping environmental and agricultural practices. This historical marginalization continues to influence contemporary discourse, where indigenous knowledge systems are often overlooked or undervalued.

Similarly, Smith (2022) examines the enduring impact of colonial legacies on environmental vulnerabilities, particularly under the Duterte administration. Smith (2022) argues that climate change policies during this period have perpetuated historical injustices, subverted indigenous land rights, and fostered violence against activists. This analysis aligns with

Mahony and Endfield's (2018) work in "Climate and Colonialism," which explores the intersectionality of climate and colonialism and emphasizes how colonial exploitation of natural resources has led to environmental degradation and socio-economic disparities.

Human Ecology, Food Systems, and Environmental Justice

The concept of environmental justice is crucial to understanding the interplay between human societies and their ecological contexts. Davila (2018) provides valuable insights into the socio-economic, cultural, and environmental dimensions of food production, distribution, and consumption in the country. His work highlights the challenges faced by vulnerable communities in accessing nutritious food amidst socio-political unrest and environmental degradation. These challenges are exacerbated by neocolonial power relations that continue to perpetuate environmental injustices, as discussed in "Climates of Control" (2022).

The significance of integrating local knowledge systems into climate adaptation strategies is emphasized in the paper "From Absences to Emergences" (2023), which highlights traditional and indigenous climate change adaptation practices from the Philippines and other Southeast Asian countries. These practices, developed over centuries, offer valuable insights into sustainable and resilient agricultural methods often overlooked in favor of Western technological solutions.

Decolonizing Development and Promoting Food Sovereignty

In response to the ongoing influence of colonial legacies, there is a growing recognition of the need to decolonize development approaches in the Philippines. Food sovereignty has emerged as a critical framework in this context, offering an alternative pathway for promoting sustainable food security. Byaruhanga and Isgren (2023) advocate for food sovereignty as a decolonizing strategy that emphasizes community control over food systems, resilience in the face of environmental challenges, and the integration of indigenous knowledge into agricultural practices. This approach challenges the dominant neoliberal narratives that prioritize industrial agriculture and global market demands over the needs of local communities.

The concept of commoning, as discussed by Ferrando et al. (2021), further enhances the decolonizing development approach which is explained to involve the collective management of resources and emphasizes the social, cultural, and spiritual dimensions of food systems. It challenges the commodification of food and seeks to restore the communal bonds that have been eroded by colonial and capitalist forces. Ferrando et al. (2021) assert that "commoning is deeply intertwined with the decolonization of knowledge and practices," highlighting the importance of integrating indigenous knowledge systems into food security strategies.

The theoretical framework of Aníbal Quijano's "Coloniality of Power" provides a valuable lens for analyzing the dynamics of climate change and food security in the Philippines. Quijano's concept of coloniality underscores how historical power structures continue to shape social relations, economic systems, and knowledge production. In the Philippine context, centuries of Spanish and American colonization have left a lasting imprint on the country's political economy, cultural identity, and ecological landscape (Quijano & Ennis, 2000). Applying this framework to the discourse surrounding climate change and food security reveals how colonial narratives perpetuate inequalities and inhibit effective responses to these pressing issues.

Discourse Analysis

Discourse analysis is an essential tool for examining how power dynamics are constructed, maintained, and challenged within the context of climate change and food security, particularly in the Philippines. The dominant discourse often reflects Western-centric, neoliberal ideologies that emphasize technological solutions and market-driven approaches, frequently sidelining indigenous knowledge systems and alternative paradigms that prioritize sustainability and equity. Norman Fairclough's seminal work, *"Analysing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research"* (2003), underscores the role of language in shaping and reflecting power relations. In the context of the Philippines, this analysis reveals how policy documents and public discourse tend to reinforce colonial power structures by framing climate change and food security issues through a Western lens, thereby marginalizing the voices and knowledge of local communities (Fairclough, 2003; McDonald, 2013).

The historical roots of these discourses are further explored in "Climate and Colonialism" by Mahony and Endfield (2018), where the authors argue that exploiting natural resources during the colonial period continues to influence contemporary environmental policies. These policies often fail to address the underlying causes of ecological degradation and social inequality, instead perpetuating the power dynamics established during colonial rule. This critique is further echoed by Fleming et al. (2014) in their analysis of dominant climate change discourses, which tend to obscure the valuable contributions of indigenous practices to environmental sustainability. By marginalizing these practices, the prevailing narratives not only sustain colonial power dynamics but also inhibit the development of more comprehensive and effective responses to climate change and food insecurity.

Furthermore, discourse analysis offers a pathway for challenging these entrenched narratives. McDonald (2013), in *"Discourses of Climate Security,"* emphasizes the importance of critically examining the language and assumptions embedded within climate change and food security discourse to expose their colonial underpinnings. This approach aligns with the broader goals of decolonization, which seek to dismantle the epistemological foundations of colonialism and promote alternative ways of knowing and governing (Quijano & Ennis, 2000). In the Philippine context, integrating indigenous knowledge into policy-making is crucial for developing strategies that are both equitable and resilient. Thus, discourse analysis not only facilitates a deeper understanding of the power dynamics at play but also provides the tools needed to transform these dynamics and create more just and sustainable food systems.

Chapter 2: Theoretical Frameworks and Colonial Legacies in the Philippines

In this chapter, I explore the theoretical foundations and key concepts that frame the analysis of climate change, food security, and colonial legacies in the Philippines. Conflict and postcolonial theories are introduced as the primary lenses through which the study analyzes power dynamics and systemic inequalities. The chapter also explains the rationale for employing discourse analysis as a key qualitative method and integrating historical perspectives to uncover how these colonial legacies continue to shape contemporary socio-political and environmental issues.

Theoretical Pinnings of Conflict and Postcolonial Theory

Conflict Theory

Conflict theory, rooted in the works of Karl Marx and later developed by sociologists like Max Weber and C. Wright Mills, posits that society is characterized by various forms of conflict between different groups competing for power and resources. This theory is based on the premise that social structures and institutions are often created and maintained to preserve the power of dominant groups, leading to systemic inequalities and social stratification (Marx, 1867; Mills, 1956). In the context of this dissertation, conflict theory provides a lens through which to examine the socio-political dynamics that shape climate change and food security in the Philippines, particularly how these issues are influenced by historical and ongoing power struggles rooted in colonialism.

The application of conflict theory in environmental studies is particularly relevant when exploring issues such as resource allocation, environmental degradation, and the marginalization of vulnerable communities. For instance, in the Philippine context, the historical control of land and resources by colonial powers has perpetuated socio-economic disparities that continue to impact the country's ability to address environmental challenges effectively. The concentration of land ownership among a few elite families—a legacy of

both Spanish and American colonialism—illustrates how conflict theory can be used to analyze the persistence of inequality and the unequal distribution of resources that exacerbate food insecurity and climate vulnerability (David, 2015).

Postcolonial Theory

Postcolonial theory, emerging from the works of scholars like Edward Said, Gayatri Spivak, and Homi K. Bhabha, focuses on the enduring impact of colonialism on former colonies and their peoples. This theoretical framework critiques the cultural, political, and economic domination imposed by colonial powers and examines how these legacies continue to shape contemporary societies (Said, 1978; Spivak, 1988). Postcolonial theory is particularly concerned with the ways in which colonial narratives and ideologies persist in the postcolonial world, often manifesting in the form of neocolonialism, where former colonies remain economically and politically dependent on former colonizers (Quijano & Ennis, 2000).

In the Philippines, postcolonial theory provides a critical framework for analyzing the longlasting effects of Spanish and American colonization on the country's social, economic, and environmental structures (Rafael, 2018; Mahajani, 1974). The theory helps to unpack how colonial ideologies continue to influence contemporary discourse on climate change and food security, particularly through the marginalization of indigenous knowledge and the prioritization of Western-centric development models (Varanasi, 2022; Briones et al., 1998). By applying postcolonial theory, this dissertation seeks to reveal how these colonial legacies contribute to ongoing power imbalances and hinder effective responses to environmental challenges (Brigg & Bleiker, 2017; Singh, 2023).

The deep-seated linkages between colonialism, capitalism, and environmental degradation are central to understanding the current challenges faced by postcolonial nations. As argued in 'The Nutmeg's Curse: Parables for a Planet in Crisis', climate change is not an isolated phenomenon but a facet of a broader planetary crisis (Ghosh, 2021). This crisis stems from historical processes of resource extraction, settler cultivation, and other forms of environmental manipulation that have drastically altered ecosystems to the detriment of global life. Ghosh (2021) emphasizes that colonialism did not just facilitate the expansion of capitalism by opening new markets; rather, colonial extraction was and continues to be integral to capitalist expansion. The logic of colonialism, with its focus on resource exploitation and domination, drives the economic imperatives that have led to the catastrophic environmental changes we witness today (Ghosh, 2021).

Failing to recognize the patterns of political and economic development that have produced these global inequalities undermines our ability to develop effective and socially just solutions to the crises we face (Ghosh, 2021). In the Philippines, this historical perspective is crucial for understanding how colonial legacies have shaped not only the country's economic dependency but also its vulnerability to environmental disasters.

How These Theories Inform the Analysis of Power Dynamics and Colonial Legacies Both conflict theory and postcolonial theory are instrumental in analyzing the power dynamics and colonial legacies that continue to shape the socio-political and environmental landscape of the Philippines. Conflict theory emphasizes the role of power struggles in maintaining systemic inequalities, while postcolonial theory critiques the lasting influence of colonialism on contemporary societies (Brigg & Bleiker, 2017; Moore et al., 1995). Together, these theories provide a robust framework for understanding how historical power dynamics are perpetuated in modern contexts, particularly in relation to climate change and food security (Holden, 2018; Singh, 2023).

In this dissertation, these theoretical frameworks will be used to explore how colonial power dynamics continue to influence the distribution of resources and the formulation of environmental policies in the Philippines. For example, the concentration of land ownership and the marginalization of indigenous communities can be analyzed through the lens of conflict theory, which highlights the ongoing struggles for control over valuable resources (Iyer, Maurer and School, n.d.); Trinidad, 2023). Meanwhile, postcolonial theory will be applied to critique the persistence of colonial narratives in shaping environmental discourse, revealing how these narratives perpetuate neocolonial power relations and inhibit the development of sustainable and equitable solutions to climate change and food insecurity (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Varanasi, 2022)

Discourse Analysis and Environmental Justice

Defining Discourse Analysis and Its Relevance to Understanding Linguistic and Socio-Political Dimensions

Discourse analysis is a qualitative research method that examines the ways in which language, both written and spoken, constructs and reflects social realities. This approach is rooted in the understanding that language is not merely a neutral conduit for conveying information but is instead a powerful tool that shapes and is shaped by social practices, ideologies, and power relations (Fairclough, 2003; Wodak & Meyer, 2009). Through this, researchers can uncover how particular narratives and representations influence public perception, policy-making, and societal structures, thereby playing a critical role in maintaining or challenging existing power dynamics.

In the context of climate change and food security in the Philippines, discourse analysis allows for a critical examination of how these issues are framed within policy documents, media reports, and public discourse. This is particularly important in a postcolonial context where the legacy of colonialism continues to influence contemporary socio-political and environmental issues as discourse analysis reveals how colonial ideologies are embedded in the language used to discuss climate change and food security, often prioritizing Western-centric solutions and marginalizing indigenous knowledge systems and alternative approaches that emphasize sustainability and equity (Escobar, 1995; McDonald, 2013).

For example, the discourse surrounding food security in the Philippines often aligns with neoliberal economic policies that prioritize export-oriented agricultural production and technological solutions to environmental challenges. This discourse tends to marginalize the food sovereignty movement, which advocates for local control over food systems and emphasizes the importance of traditional agricultural practices (Jarosz, 2014). By analyzing these competing discourses, researchers can better understand the socio-political dimensions of climate change and food security, as well as the power relations that shape policy-making and public perception.

Concepts and Their Application in Analyzing Systemic Inequalities

The interplay between discourse analysis and environmental justice is critical for understanding the systemic inequalities often perpetuated through language and communication. Environmental justice, a framework that emerged in response to the disproportionate environmental burdens faced by marginalized communities, focuses on the fair distribution of environmental benefits and harms, as well as the recognition of the rights and voices of all stakeholders in environmental decision-making (Bullard, 2000; Schlosberg, 2007). Discourse analysis, in turn, provides a methodological approach to understanding how these systemic inequalities are constructed and maintained through language and communication.

In the Philippines, discourse analysis can be applied to examine how colonial narratives and power dynamics influence the distribution of environmental risks and resources. For instance, the dominant discourse on climate change in the Philippines often emphasizes technological solutions, which are framed as the most "modern" or "rational" approaches to environmental challenges. However, this discourse frequently overlooks or dismisses indigenous knowledge systems and sustainable practices that have been developed over centuries (Escobar, 1995; Fairclough, 2003). This marginalization of alternative perspectives can be understood as a form of environmental injustice, where the voices and rights of indigenous communities are systematically excluded from decision-making processes.

Moreover, discourse analysis can demonstrate how language is used to reinforce existing power structures and maintain the status quo. The framing of climate change as primarily a technological or economic issue often serves to depoliticize the problem, obscuring the social and political factors that contribute to environmental degradation and food insecurity. This depoliticization is not merely an oversight but a strategic move that perpetuates systemic inequalities by deflecting attention from the need for structural change (Fairclough, 2003; McDonald, 2013).

Methodology Qualitative Research Design

The decision to use a qualitative research design is rooted in the need to capture the complex, nuanced ways in which language shapes and reflects power dynamics within society. Unlike quantitative approaches, which emphasize numerical data and statistical analysis, qualitative methods allow for a more in-depth exploration of social phenomena, particularly the socio-political and cultural dimensions of discourse. In the context of this research, qualitative methods are crucial for understanding how these narratives perpetuate existing inequalities and hinder the development of more equitable solutions to these pressing issues (Fairclough, 2003; Alcock, 2008).

Given the vast amount of textual material produced within a nation-state, it was impractical to analyze all texts. Therefore, this study focuses on those texts that exert the most significant influence on public opinion and policy. These include documents produced by the media, academic institutions, government bodies, and non-governmental organizations (NGOs). These entities have substantial access to persuasive tools and play a critical role in shaping national identity and societal norms. As noted by Van Dijk (1993), individuals and groups with social power often have greater access to the means of persuasion, allowing them to shape public perception in ways that align with their interests. In the context of the Philippines, this includes analyzing texts from key civil society organizations, which are particularly influential due to the country's extensive experience with institutions of liberal democracy (Bankoff & Weekley, 2004).

Fairclough's Three-Dimensional Model

The study employs Fairclough's three-dimensional model of Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) as the primary framework for analyzing the selected texts. This model is particularly well-suited for examining the relationship between language use and societal practices, making it an ideal tool for exploring how colonial legacies are embedded in contemporary discourses. As articulated by Jørgensen and Phillips (2002), Fairclough's model is considered the most advanced framework for analyzing the relationship between language use and societal practices. This model divides discourse analysis into three dimensions: texts, discursive practice, and social practice, which makes the analysis both comprehensive and manageable.

Fairclough (1992, as explained by Jørgensen and Phillips, 2002, p. 61), describes discursive practice as the process through which texts are produced, consumed, and interpreted. Discursive practice is both a form of social practice that shapes the social world and is shaped by other social practices. The analysis therefore includes:

- The level of discursive practice: Analyzing the discourses and genres involved in the production and consumption of the text.
- The level of the text: Analyzing the linguistic structure.
- The level of social practice: Considering whether the discursive practice reproduces or restructures the existing order of discourse and the implications for broader social practices.

Data Collection and Analysis

For this study, 21 key texts were selected (see Appendix A) for analysis through a three-phase inclusion process. Initially, documents were chosen based on their publication date, focusing specifically on those that mentioned "climate change," "food security," within the context of the Philippines, published between 2009 and 2023. This initial phase yielded 2778 documents from various sources, including government reports, policy documents, and academic articles. broad sample that could offer insights into how these critical issues have been framed over the past 15 years. The primary goal of this phase was to assemble a broad sample that could offer insights into how these critical issues have been framed over the past decade.

In the second phase, the selection was refined by including only those documents that contained specific key terms such as "colonialism," "neocolonialism," "agriculture," "indigenous practices," and "sustainability" in any combination. This further narrowed the sample to a more focused set of documents that directly addressed the intersections of colonial history, climate change, and food security in the Philippines. Additionally, a

supplemental set of search criteria was applied to capture documents that discussed the impacts of these factors on local communities, with an emphasis on resilience and adaptation strategies. This supplementary search added a number of documents to the sample, ensuring a comprehensive overview of the subject matter.

The final inclusion criteria involved a detailed review of each document, applying structural descriptive codes to capture essential information such as the document type, publication date, author(s), word count, and the specific context in which the Philippines was discussed. The analysis also noted whether the document referenced specific Philippine policy initiatives or included perspectives from local or indigenous communities. Documents that did not have a clear focus on the Philippines or did not directly relate to the study's themes were excluded. The final sample included a curated selection of documents that provided a rich basis for analysis.

Each document in this final sample underwent an in-depth thematic analysis. Descriptive codes were manually applied and then reviewed to develop thematic codes (see Appendix B). Initially, a broad set of themes emerged, which were then refined through further analysis. Ultimately, these themes were distilled into key overarching categories that capture the critical discourse around colonialism, climate change, and food security in the Philippines.

Results and Thematic Analysis

Thematic analysis of the discourse surrounding climate change and food security in the Philippines revealed two prominent overarching themes: the persistence of colonial power structures and the exploitation of local resources. These themes reflect a deep-seated division within the national and global narrative—one that not only positions the Philippines in a subordinate role on the global stage but also perpetuates the historical legacies of colonialism that continue to affect local communities and indigenous populations.

The theme of colonial power structures is pervasive in policy documents and media representations that emphasize economic growth, modernization, and integration into global markets as the primary pathways to progress. These discourses often frame local and indigenous practices as outdated or insufficient, thus marginalizing them in favor of Western models of development. This narrative perpetuates the idea that local communities are inherently deficient, without acknowledging the rich knowledge systems and sustainable practices that have long been part of the region's history.

The second theme, the exploitation of local resources, emerges strongly in discussions about the agricultural sector, where the dominance of multinational corporations and the financialization of agriculture have led to a prioritization of export-oriented cash crops over local food production. This focus on maximizing profits for global markets has resulted in significant environmental degradation and has exacerbated food insecurity within local communities. The narrative of exploitation highlights the ways in which local farmers are often forced into dependency on volatile global markets, further entrenching economic inequalities and environmental vulnerabilities.

These findings suggest that historical and ongoing colonial dynamics heavily influence the discourse on climate change and food security in the Philippines. The persistent framing of development through a colonial lens not only undermines local autonomy but also hinders the pursuit of sustainable and equitable solutions tailored to the unique needs and capacities of the Philippines. The following sections will delve deeper into these themes, exploring their manifestations in specific policy documents and media texts, and discussing their broader implications for the country's future resilience and food sovereignty.

Chapter 3: Colonial Narratives and Climate Change Discourse

Historical Roots of Colonialism

Understanding the challenges of climate change and food security in the Philippines requires a thorough examination of the historical and socio-political context, particularly the colonial history that has shaped the nation's agricultural practices, land use, and socio-economic structures. The country has experienced four major phases of "liberation": from Spanish rule (1565-1898), Japanese occupation during World War II (1942-1945), and American colonization (1898-1946). Through this, each period of colonization introduced distinct forms of governance and economic exploitation, leaving enduring and profound effects on the country (Rodgan, 2021).

Spanish colonization, beginning in the 16th century, introduced the encomienda system—a resource extraction method that coerced indigenous Filipinos into producing goods for the Spanish empire, laying the groundwork for deep-seated inequalities that persist in the Philippine agricultural sector to this day (Forster, 2024).

The American colonial period that followed brought about rapid development but also intensified existing inequalities in wealth and income. The Americans introduced a market-driven agricultural economy emphasizing the production of cash crops for export like sugar, tobacco, and coconut rather than food for local consumption (Mahajani, 1974). This shift entrenched land ownership patterns that favored a small elite and marginalized smallholder farmers and indigenous communities, further exacerbating socio-economic disparities (Camba, 2018). As a result, a land tenure system was introduced, perpetuating the exploitation of natural resources.

For over a century, the relationship between the Philippines and the United States has been marked by significant conflict and enduring influence. Following the victory over Spain in 1898, the United States took control of the Philippines and crushed a burgeoning Filipino independence movement (Smith, 1986). After solidifying its colonial rule, the United States spent 48 years molding the political, economic, and cultural structures of the Philippines to

mirror its own systems, ensuring continued dominance and suppressing resistance (McCoy, 2009).

Today, the Philippines remains heavily influenced by colonial legacies, with Western ideologies and economic structures continuing to shape the nation's development. This has led to a persistent ideological dissonance, in which Indigenous practices are marginalized while Western models of development are prioritized, despite being misaligned with the needs and values of local communities (Rodgan, 2021).

Colonial Narratives in Contemporary Climate Change Discourse

The Philippines regularly experiences severe tropical cyclones, monsoons, and El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) events. In 2019 alone, 21 tropical cyclones entered the Philippine Area of Responsibility, with eight making landfall and displacing over 6 million people (PAGASA, 2020). As global temperatures rise, these extreme weather events intensify, exacerbating food and human security challenges (Eckstein et al., 2021; IPCC, 2021).

In response to these growing threats, the Government of the Philippines (GPH) has recognized the need for climate action, beginning as early as 1991 with the acknowledgment of the "right of the Filipino people to a balanced and healthful ecology" (President of the Philippines, 1991; Magalang, 2011). The establishment of the Climate Change Commission (CCC) through the "Climate Change Act of 2009" was a significant step in the nation's climate policy framework, emphasizing the inclusion of various stakeholders in climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts, including the integration of gender-sensitive, prochildren, and pro-poor perspectives in all initiatives (Republic of the Philippines, 2009; CCC, 2011).

However, these policies, while progressive on the surface, often remain rooted in colonial narratives that continue to shape contemporary climate change discourse (Holden, Nadeau, and Porio, 2017). The persistence of these colonial frameworks in policy discourse undermines the effectiveness of climate action, as they fail to address the deep-seated

historical and socio-economic inequalities that make the Philippines vulnerable to climate change (Smith, 2019; Ferrando et al., 2021).

Implications for Vulnerable Communities

As a result of the enduring colonial narratives embedded in this discourse, vulnerable groups often bear the brunt of climate change as they have fewer resources to recover from climate-induced losses impacts despite relying directly on the land for their livelihoods, leading to a cycle of poverty and increased food insecurity (Mahajani, 1974). Additionally, their exclusion from decision-making processes means that their needs and perspectives are usually overlooked in policy development or frequently dismissed in favor of Western scientific approaches, which are perceived as more "modern" or "rational,", undervaluing Indigenous systems and undermining the effectiveness of adaptation efforts. This exclusion not only weakens climate resilience but also perpetuates the colonial legacy of devaluing Indigenous cultures and knowledge (Quijano & Ennis, 2000).

Furthermore, the commodification of food and land has resulted in a food system that is highly susceptible to global market fluctuations and environmental shocks, leaving the most vulnerable communities with limited access to food and land (Ferrando et al., 2021a). Thus, the persistence of these colonial narratives in contemporary policy and discourse underscores the urgent need for decolonizing development approaches to challenge the dominant paradigms that continue to perpetuate inequality and environmental degradation.

Chapter 4: Findings and Analysis

In reviewing the materials used in the discourse analysis, the research uncovers the persistence of colonial power structures in contemporary Philippines. The findings from the discourse analysis highlight several recurring colonial narratives that shape contemporary climate change and food security strategies while reinforcing historical power imbalances that hinder sustainable development. Here, I categorize these discourses into Coloniality of Power in Policy, Colonial Dependency, Government as Savior, and International Cooperation Versus Local Action, and Economic Exploitation and Inequality.

Coloniality of Power in Policy

The discourse analysis revealed that colonial power dynamics are deeply embedded in contemporary Philippine policy documents, shaping how sustainability and food security are conceptualized and addressed. Key policies such as the *Philippine Development Plan 2017-2022* and the *Climate Change Act of 2009* prioritized economic growth, modernization, and technological solutions, often at the expense of indigenous knowledge and sustainable practices (Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010; Republic Act No. 9729, 2009).

The language in these policy documents frequently emphasizes terms like "progress," "modernization," and "development," echoing colonial-era rhetoric. Meanwhile, the push for industrial agriculture and the adoption of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) is justified through the use of terms such as "innovation" and "efficiency" (Leonelli, 2018). Coded phrases such as "outdated practices" and "in need of modernization" were also commonly associated with discussions on agricultural policy (Pasadilla, Corong, & Taningco, n.d.). This framing marginalizes traditional farming practices, presenting them as inefficient and mirrors the colonial mindset that equates Western technological advancement with superiority (Leonelli, 2018).

Indigenous agricultural practices, which have sustainably managed ecosystems for centuries, are often sidelined in these policy documents. The focus on large-scale, export-oriented agriculture under the Comprehensive Agrarian Reform Program (CARP) reflects a

continuation of colonial economic strategies. Coded findings highlight the frequent use of terms like "global competitiveness" and "economic growth," often downplaying the importance of preserving indigenous knowledge and practices (Camba, 2018; Berkes, 2012). The emphasis on integration into the global market further reveals a preference for global market dynamics over local sustainability.

Colonial Dependency

The theme of colonial dependency is one of the most pervasive narratives uncovered through this analysis. This narrative is exemplified in policy documents like the *National Framework Strategy on Climate Change, 2010–2022* and the *National Climate Change Action Plan* (Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010). These documents frequently highlight the need for "support from international partners," emphasizing financial and technical assistance as essential to addressing the country's climate challenges. This reliance on foreign aid and expertise perpetuates the colonial mindset that local capacities are inadequate without external intervention (World Bank, 2010).

For instance, the National Framework Strategy on Climate Change describes the Philippines as being "highly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change" and calls for "increased international cooperation" to help the country adapt to these challenges (Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010, p. 5). The emphasis on the need to "align with global standards" further reinforces this dependency, suggesting that local capacities are inadequate without external intervention (World Bank, 2010).

Meanwhile, The World Bank's report "A Strategic Approach to Climate Change in the Philippines" positions international institutions as key actors in shaping national policy, framing the Philippines as needing to "conform to international norms and practices" to effectively address climate change (World Bank, 2010, p. 2). This framing overshadows local knowledge and priorities, portraying the Philippines as dependent on external forces, much like during the colonial period when foreign powers dictated local governance and economic policies (Pasadilla, Corong, & Taningco, n.d.). This narrative not only undermines local agencies but also perpetuates the idea that the Philippines cannot address its challenges independently.

Government as Savior

A significant narrative identified in the analysis is the portrayal of the government as the central savior in addressing climate change and food security challenges. This narrative is prominently featured in official documents such as the *National Climate Change Action Plan* and Republic Act No. 9729, also known as the Climate Change Act of 2009 (Office of the President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission, 2010). These documents position the government as the primary actor responsible for leading climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts, often portraying the state as the ultimate authority and protector of the people.

For example, the *National Climate Change Action Plan* emphasizes that "the government shall lead the implementation of strategies to address climate change," highlighting the state's role in coordinating national efforts (Office of the President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission, 2010, p. 3). This top-down approach to governance mirrors colonial-era structures, where the state, frequently influenced by foreign powers, was seen as the central authority capable of solving all problems. Phrases like "the government will lead" and "state-led initiatives" reflect this paternalistic perspective, suggesting that the state is the only entity capable of addressing the nation's challenges (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Patel, 2009).

This narrative tends to marginalize the role of local communities and grassroots movements, which are essential for achieving sustainable and inclusive development. By focusing on the state as the central figure in climate action, these documents often overlook the contributions that local actors can make in building resilience and adapting to climate change. For instance, media reports have highlighted that while government-led initiatives are prominent, there is often a disconnect between these top-down policies and the on-the-ground realities faced by vulnerable communities. In the article *"In the Philippines, Colonial Legacy and Climate Change Collide," The New York Times* (2023) notes that government strategies frequently prioritize large-scale interventions over locally-driven solutions, which can lead to the

marginalization of community-based approaches that are often more attuned to local needs and conditions.

Moreover, this portrayal of the government as the nation's hero, leading efforts to combat climate change, reinforces the state's central role in climate action. The government's actions are depicted as vital for protecting the population from the adverse effects of climate change, further entrenching its position as the ultimate authority (Office of the President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission, 2010; Heckelman & Wittman, 2015). The *National Climate Change Action Plan* describes these initiatives as "crucial for the nation's survival," positioning the state as the primary entity capable of addressing the severe challenges posed by climate change (Office of the President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission, 2010; President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission, 2010, p. 7).

This expectation is deeply rooted in the broader cultural context of the Philippines, where there is a historical expectation that the government should take the lead in solving major social and economic issues. As Guerrero (2009) notes, Filipinos have traditionally looked to the government to provide essential services, reduce socio-economic disparities, and address significant challenges. This reflects a continuation of the colonial legacy, where centralized authority was deemed necessary for national progress, and the government's actions are seen as essential for navigating the complex challenges posed by climate change. This narrative is also echoed in media outlets, such as the article from *The New Humanitarian* (2023), which points out that the government's centralized control over agricultural policies is often seen as the only viable solution to the looming food security crisis.

By highlighting these coded phrases and examining the language used in both policy documents and media reports, it becomes clear that the portrayal of the government as the "savior" continues to shape how climate change and food security are addressed in the Philippines, often at the expense of more inclusive, community-driven approaches.

International Cooperation versus Local Action

Another theme within this discourse is the persistent tension between international cooperation and local action. This dichotomy is particularly highlighted in the Initial Communication on Climate Change to the UNFCCC (1999), where the Philippines underscores its commitment to global climate agreements. While these international commitments are indispensable for global climate governance, they pose challenges when adapted to the local context, where unique socio-economic and environmental realities come into play. As highlighted in the Greenpeace Report on Climate and Food Security (2023), these challenges often stem from the difficulty in translating global climate mandates into locally relevant and actionable strategies.

The tension arises primarily because international frameworks tend to impose a one-size-fitsall approach that may not adequately address the specific needs of local communities. This is particularly problematic in a country like the Philippines, where climate vulnerabilities are compounded by socio-economic disparities and historical inequalities. The phrase "global standards often overshadow local needs" aptly encapsulates this disconnect, reflecting the complexities of implementing global climate policies that are often out of sync with the local realities (Greenpeace, 2023).

The analysis also revealed a disconnect through phrases such as "global policies do not always align with local needs" and "empowering local communities" that are central to discussions about the challenges of aligning global climate commitments with local realities. These phrases suggest that while global agreements are critical for collective action, they often fail to account for the distinct priorities and constraints faced by local communities. The coded findings show frequent mentions of terms like "misalignment of global policies" and "local empowerment," indicating a growing awareness of the need for climate policies that are both globally coordinated and locally adapted (Rodriguez, 2014; Greenpeace, 2023).

The Greenpeace Report (2023) particularly emphasizes the need for policies that are sensitive to the local context, arguing that without such sensitivity, global mandates can become ineffective or even counterproductive. The report argues that "empowering local

communities" is not just a moral imperative but a practical necessity for ensuring that climate policies are grounded in the lived experiences of those most affected by climate change. This argument is supported by the broader literature that critiques the imposition of global standards on local contexts without adequate consideration of local knowledge and capacities (Berkes, 2012; Nakashima et al., 2012).

The recurring theme of misalignment between global policies and local needs also reflects a deeper issue of autonomy and sovereignty. As discussed in the literature, the rigid application of international standards can undermine local agency, leaving communities with little control over the climate policies that directly impact their lives (Patel, 2009; Clapp, 2014). This is particularly evident in the Philippines, where the local challenges of climate adaptation are often overshadowed by the pressure to conform to international commitments. The use of phrases like "local adaptation challenges" in the discourse further underscores the difficulties that arise when global frameworks do not adequately account for local conditions, thus emphasizing a need to advocate for policies that are flexible and adaptable to local contexts(Sobrevinas et al., n.d.).

Economic Exploitation and Inequality

Another discourse that emerged from the analysis is that of economic exploitation and inequality. This narrative is deeply intertwined with the discussions surrounding trade reforms and their impact on poverty, and is illustrated in the research brief *Agriculture Trade Reform Leads to Fewer Poor but Poorer Poor in the Philippines* by Pasadilla, Corong, & Taningco. The analysis reveals that trade liberalization, while ostensibly aimed at poverty alleviation, has disproportionately benefited the wealthy elite while exacerbating poverty among the most vulnerable populations. Phrases such as "the poor are affected by global trade dynamics beyond their control" and "trade reforms have benefited the rich while impoverishing the poor" capture the essence of this critique. Rather than leveling the economic playing field, trade reforms have deepened the divide between the rich and the poor.

The narrative of economic exploitation seen in the documents is not new; it echoes historical patterns where resources and wealth were extracted for the benefit of a minority, leaving the majority in a state of deprivation (Pasadilla, Corong, & Taningco, n.d.). This narrative aligns with broader critiques of neoliberal economic policies that prioritize market efficiency and global competitiveness over social equity and justice (Patel, 2009; Clapp, 2014).

Global market dynamics, shaped by historical inequalities, further exacerbate economic exploitation and marginalization of smallholder farmers and rural communities in the Philippines. The *Analysis of the Impact of the Changes in the Price of Rice and Fuel on Poverty in the Philippines* by Sobrevinas et al. underscores how these global market forces disproportionately disadvantage the poor. The coded analysis revealed key phrases such as "disadvantaged by global market dynamics" and "historical inequalities," which highlight the systemic nature of these challenges. These dynamics perpetuate a cycle of poverty that is difficult to break, especially for those in rural areas who are most vulnerable to fluctuations in global markets.

The persistence of these inequalities is a stark reminder of the ongoing influence of colonial legacies in the Philippines' economic structure as the global market often imposes conditions that are unfavorable to small, developing nations. This has led to a situation where the Philippines, despite its rich natural resources and potential for agricultural self-sufficiency, remains heavily dependent on external markets and vulnerable to global price shifts (Sobrevinas et al., n.d.; Berkes, 2012).

Critiques of the neoliberal model of development further support the discourse on economic exploitation and inequality. This is seen in the works of scholars like Clapp (2014) and McMichael (2013) who argue that this model often leads those in the agricultural sector left to bear the brunt of market volatility and economic marginalization.
Chapter 5: Mechanisms Linking Colonialism to Climate Change

In addition to the economic exploitation of the country, the colonial history of the Philippines has laid a foundation for ongoing environmental degradation that exacerbates the country's vulnerability to climate change. Even 75 years after the Philippines gained formal independence, the repercussions including land degradation and resource depletion, remain as the Philippines continues to be highly dependent on agricultural exports (Camba, 2018; McCoy, 2009).

Historical Continuities in Land Use and Agricultural Policies

Enduring Impacts of Land Dispossession

During the colonial era, vast tracts of land were appropriated from indigenous communities, reallocated to colonial authorities, and later to corporate entities, drastically altering traditional land tenure systems (Kramer, 2006). This historical transfer of land ownership created a concentration of land in the hands of a few, which is reflected in phrases such as "land dispossession" and "concentration of land ownership" found in policy discussions. This continued dominance of these skewed land ownership structures has deprived many rural communities of their means of subsistence, exacerbating food insecurity and economic disparity. Davila (2018) highlights that this concentration of land ownership has fundamentally shaped the current food systems, which continues to disadvantage smallholder farmers.

Monoculture and Environmental Degradation

Monoculture, particularly the cultivation of cash crops for export, has also had long-lasting impacts on the environment, contributing to severe land degradation. The emphasis on singlecrop farming, particularly the cultivation of cash crops like sugarcane and abaca during the colonial period, has led to widespread soil erosion, loss of biodiversity, and increased vulnerability to pests and diseases—issues that remain prevalent today (Springer, 2015). These cash crops were heavily promoted under Spanish and American colonial rule to meet global market demands, often at the expense of local food crops and sustainable agricultural practices. The analysis identified phrases like "monoculture" and "environmental degradation," frequently appearing in discussions about the adverse effects of colonial agrarian practices. Davila (2018) underscores how these practices have resulted in unsustainable food systems that fail to meet the nutritional needs of local populations, further exacerbating food insecurity. This persistent reliance on such practices therefore, reflects a failure to transition away from colonial-era agricultural models toward more sustainable and diversified farming systems.

Perpetuation of Inequalities Through Neocolonial Power Relations

Corporate Dominance in Agriculture

The influence of colonialism on the Philippines did not end with its formal independence; instead, it evolved into what is often referred to as neocolonialism, where former colonial powers and global economic institutions continue to exert control over the country's resources and policy-making. This neocolonial control is evident in the dominance of multinational corporations in the Philippines' agricultural sector, where corporations often dictate the terms of trade and the focus remains on the production of export-oriented crops rather than food for local consumption, exemplifying the system that was established during the colonial era (Smith, 2019).

During the colonial period, the Philippines' agricultural economy was restructured to serve the needs of the colonial powers, focusing on export-oriented agriculture rather than local food production. This legacy persists today, with multinational corporations exerting significant control over the agricultural sector, often to the detriment of smallholder farmers and indigenous communities (Springer, 2015). Phrases such as "corporate dominance" and "foreign investment" are commonly associated with these discussions, highlighting the ongoing influence of neocolonial power relations. This is supported by Davila (2018) in that these corporate-controlled food systems undermine local food sovereignty and prioritize profit over the well-being of communities.

Financialization of Agriculture

This neocolonial relationship is also perpetuated through the influence of international financial institutions like the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank which were instrumental in shaping the post-colonial economic policies of many developing nations, including the Philippines, through imposing structural adjustment programs that prioritize debt repayment and economic liberalization over social and environmental sustainability (Ferrando et al., 2021a). Such policies have frequently led to the privatization of essential services, reduced support for small-scale farmers, and the promotion of industrial agriculture—further entrenching the inequalities established during the colonial period.

The discourse analysis uncovers a critical theme regarding the financialization of agriculture and its repercussions on local farmers, revealing a significant shift from pre-colonial agricultural practices in the Philippines, which were largely subsistence-based and the integration of the Philippine agricultural system into global market dynamics (McMichael, 2013). The analysis of key policy documents, such as the Philippine Development Plan 2017-2022 and the National Framework Strategy on Climate Change 2010-2022, reveals a continued emphasis on aligning Philippine agriculture with global value chains, often at the expense of local needs (Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010; Republic Act No. 9729, 2009). Terms like "global value chains" and "financialization of agriculture" frequently appear in these policy documents, reflecting a persistent prioritization of profit over the wellbeing of smallholder farmers. This integration into volatile global financial markets has left these farmers increasingly vulnerable to market fluctuations and economic instability, a point highlighted by the recurrent theme of "market vulnerability" in the media narratives and policy texts analyzed (Pasadilla, Corong & Taningco, n.d.). Furthermore, carbon trading schemes and other market-oriented solutions promoted as the primary means of mitigating climate change was seen to have lead to the further commodification of natural resources and the displacement of communities from their ancestral lands (Quijano & Ennis, 2000; Varanasi, 2022).

Empirical studies further support these findings, with research by Clapp and Helleiner (2012) demonstrating that financialization contributes to increased price volatility in agricultural

markets, which directly impacts food security. This volatility is evident in the Philippines' ongoing reliance on food imports. The discourse in texts such as the World Bank's A Strategic Approach to Climate Change in the Philippines (2010) and media reports from Rappler and The New Humanitarian reveals how this dependency exacerbates the country's susceptibility to global price swings, leading to higher costs for essential goods and further impoverishing Filipino farmers (The New Humanitarian, 2023). This pervasive influence of financialization in the analyzed texts also suggests that current strategies are not only failing to protect local farmers but are also deepening the structural inequalities that originated in the colonial era (Manogna & Kulkarni, 2022).

Colonialism and Climate Vulnerability

Policy documents such as the Philippine Development Plan 2017-2022 and the Climate Change Act of 2009 (Republic Act No. 9729) revealed how the ongoing vulnerabilities faced by the Philippines are deeply rooted in colonial legacies that have shaped the country's economic and environmental landscapes (Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010; Republic Act No. 9729, 2009). These documents illustrate a pattern where colonial histories of resource extraction and land exploitation have left post-colonial nations like the Philippines particularly susceptible to the impacts of climate change. As Mahony and Endfield (2018) emphasize, these colonial practices not only impoverished local communities but also "eroded the ecological resilience that could have mitigated the effects of climate variability and extreme weather events."

The discourse highlights several mechanisms through which these colonial legacies continue to influence the Philippines' vulnerability to climate change and food insecurity. For instance, the historical dispossession of land, as documented in the Comprehensive Agrarian Reform Program (CARP) and other land reform policies, has resulted in the concentration of land ownership, favoring corporate and elite interests. CARP was launched in 1988 as a state effort to redistribute agricultural land from wealthy landholders to landless farmers in order to encourage fair land ownership and social justice. However, the program has faced numerous challenges, including resistance from powerful landowning elites, which has resulted in many rural communities still lacking access to land (Borras, 2006) This

concentration has perpetuated environmental degradation, particularly through the promotion of monoculture—an agricultural practice heavily emphasized during the colonial period. This is seen in the references through terms like "land dispossession," "monoculture," and "environmental degradation," underscoring how these colonial-era practices have persisted in shaping the country's current agricultural and environmental challenges (Davila, 2018; Springer, 2015).

Moreover, the discourse analysis points to the continued dominance of corporate interests in agriculture, a legacy of colonial economic strategies that prioritized export-oriented cash crops over diverse, subsistence-based farming. This corporate dominance is reflected in the language used in policy documents such as the National Framework Strategy on Climate Change (2010) and the National Climate Change Action Plan (Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010 which emphasize global competitiveness and integration into global markets at the expense of local food security. Thus, the analysis reveals that the financialization of agriculture, another colonial holdover, deepened economic exploitation by integrating local farmers into volatile global financial markets. This has made smallholder farmers increasingly vulnerable to market fluctuations, as highlighted by terms such as "global value chains" and "financialization of agriculture" in the analyzed texts (Clapp & Helleiner, 2012; Davila, 2018).

These findings also demonstrate that the persistence of these colonial-era practices highlights an urgent need for a critical re-evaluation of current agricultural and environmental policies. Thus, the discourse advocates for a shift towards more equitable and sustainable systems that prioritize local needs and environmental health, moving away from the colonial legacies that have long dictated the country's approach to land use and agriculture (Mahony & Endfield, 2018; Davila, 2018).

Chapter 6: Potential for Resilience through Decolonizing Development Approaches

In addressing the entrenched challenges of climate change and food insecurity in the Philippines, incorporating food sovereignty, agroecology, and commoning emerges as a powerful strategy for dismantling the colonial structures that persist in the country's agricultural and food systems. As discussed by Wynter (2003) and Ferrando et al. (2021), decolonialism is not only a pathway to self-determination but also a foundation for grassroots empowerment and liberation within food systems. This approach is particularly relevant in the Philippines, where historical and ongoing colonial influences have shaped current agricultural practices and policies.

Food Sovereignty and Resilience

Food sovereignty, as articulated by Heckelman and Wittman (2015), offers a compelling counter-narrative to the dominant, market-driven paradigms of food security that have been shaped by colonial histories. This framework challenges global capitalist structures that perpetuate inequality and environmental degradation by prioritizing the rights of people to define their own food systems. In the Philippines, where the colonial legacy of export-oriented agriculture has marginalized local food systems, food sovereignty is particularly relevant as it seeks to restore local control over food production and distribution (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015).

By focusing on local food production and ecological sustainability, food sovereignty movements in the Philippines are working to reclaim control over food systems from multinational corporations and global markets. This is seen through movements such as Masipag and the Kilusang Magbubukid ng Pilipinas (KMP) play a crucial role in these initiatives. For instance, Masipag is a network that empowers farmers through sustainable, organic farming practices, while KMP advocates for agrarian reform and farmer rights, both steadfastly opposing the commercialization of agriculture. These movements not only seek to reestablish local control but also promote environmentally sustainable and culturally appropriate agroecological practices, thus contributing to the restoration of local communities' autonomy over their food production and consumption patterns (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Ferrando et al., 2021).

As Heckelman and Wittman (2015) note, "food sovereignty is not just about access to food, but about the right to produce food in a way that is culturally appropriate and ecologically sound." This approach directly challenges the colonial mindset that equates modernization with Western agricultural practices, offering a more holistic and sustainable model for food production. Moreover, food sovereignty provides a critical lens through which to examine the intersections of gender, race, and class within the global food system. The modern food system often imposes foodways that marginalize the practices and knowledge systems of indigenous and local communities. Thus, by advocating for the rights of these communities to define their own food systems, food sovereignty challenges the imposition of dominant foodways and promotes the development of just, sustainable, and equitable food systems that are grounded in the needs and values of local populations (Williams & Holt-Giménez, 2017; Mihesuah & Hoover, 2019).

Decommodifying Food through Commoning

Agroecology transcends the scope of sustainable agricultural techniques and is instead fundamentally a decolonial practice that challenges the commodification of food and land perpetuated by colonial and capitalist systems. By embracing agroecology and commoning, communities can reclaim and reaffirm the social, cultural, and spiritual significance of food an essential step in realizing food sovereignty. This reclamation is crucial both at the local level and across diverse food cultures that coexist within local contexts as Ferrando et al. (2021) argue that recognizing food as a commons and practicing commoning highlight the critical connections that food fosters within families and communities, connections often maintained and celebrated, particularly within diaspora communities (Ferrando et al., 2021).

Commoning practices directly challenge the privatization and market-driven approaches that have historically marginalized indigenous and local communities. These practices focus on liberating agricultural practices from the exploitative dynamics of global market systems. The first steps towards moving away from the competitive and unequal market dynamics involve freeing produce from the limitations of wholesale market distribution channels and releasing farmers from the uncertainties and demands of the global-local supply chain (Ferrando et al., 2021).

Campi Aperti and Genuino Clandestino serve as prominent examples of how these principles can be put into practice. Campi Aperti, a network of farmers' markets in Italy, and Genuino Clandestino, a grassroots movement that promotes the authenticity of local and traditional food products, both work to liberate food production from exploitative global market systems. By prioritizing direct relationships between producers and consumers, these initiatives ensure fair prices for farmers while maintaining the integrity and sustainability of local food cultures (Ferrando et al., 2021).

These initiatives also emphasize commoning practices, where food is treated as a shared resource rather than a mere commodity. This approach reshapes food systems to be more equitable, sustainable, and resilient, aligning with the broader goals of decolonizing development. By embracing such models, communities can reclaim and reaffirm the social, cultural, and spiritual significance of food, which is essential for resisting the harmful legacies of colonialism and neoliberalism in the global food system (Wynter, 2003; Ferrando et al., 2021).

This approach aligns with the broader need to move away from monoculture and cash crop production, legacies of colonial agricultural policies that have contributed to environmental degradation and food insecurity in the Philippines. By promoting diversified farming systems that are ecologically sustainable and culturally appropriate, the shift towards agroecology and commoning can strengthen local food systems and ensure that food sovereignty becomes a reality for communities across the country (Ferrando et al., 2021).

Integrating Indigenous Knowledge and Practices

A crucial aspect of decolonizing development is the integration of indigenous knowledge and practices into national policies and local initiatives. In the Philippines, indigenous agricultural methods, which have supported ecosystems for centuries, are often more adaptable and

resilient in the face of climate change than the monoculture systems introduced during the colonial era (Davila, 2018). Practices such as agroforestry, diversified cropping, and traditional seed saving not only enhance biodiversity but also significantly strengthen the resilience of local food systems.

For example, the Ifugao rice terraces in the Cordillera region, a UNESCO World Heritage site, have been maintained through indigenous knowledge for over 2,000 years. The sophisticated irrigation systems used in these terraces channel water from mountain streams, conserving water and maintaining soil fertility—demonstrating a sustainable agricultural practice that is intricately suited to the region's unique landscape and climate (Davila, 2018; Makondo & Thomas, 2018). Similarly, the Kaingin system, a traditional method of shifting cultivation practiced by various indigenous groups, involves rotating fields and allowing periods of fallow. Despite often being misunderstood and criticized by Western observers as environmentally harmful, when practiced traditionally, it enhances soil fertility and maintains ecological balance, proving to be well-suited to the local environment (Makondo & Thomas, 2018; Warren, 2020).

Recognition indigenous knowledge is essential for developing climate adaptation strategies that are both effective and culturally relevant as Makondo and Thomas (2018) argue that indigenous practices are often better suited to specific regions because they are developed over generations, closely aligned with local ecosystems, and more responsive to environmental changes. In contrast, Western scientific approaches, while valuable, are not always suitable for these unique contexts and can sometimes undermine local ecological knowledge when applied without consideration of regional specificities (Makondo & Thomas, 2018).

Incorporating indigenous practices into broader development frameworks will allow the Philippines to address climate change challenges in ways that respect and leverage the deep ecological wisdom embedded in these traditions. For instance, agroforestry—where trees and crops grow together—is widely used by indigenous communities as it reduces soil erosion and improves water retention, making it a critical strategy for coping with climate variability in regions where Western monoculture practices have often failed (Makondo & Thomas,

2018; Warren, 2020). By combining indigenous knowledge with modern scientific methods, the Philippines can develop innovative and context-specific solutions that challenges the one-size-fits-all mentality often associated with Western development strategies (Makondo & Thomas, 2018; Mahajani, 1974).

Empowerment Through Local Governance and Community-Led Initiatives

Decolonizing development fundamentally involves redistributing power, empowering local communities, and fostering grassroots governance. Unlike the top-down approaches typically employed by state-led initiatives, community-led efforts provide more inclusive and context-sensitive solutions to the intertwined challenges of climate change and food insecurity. Through the discourse analysis, it is revealed that these locally driven initiatives are better aligned with the specific needs and realities of the communities they serve, offering a crucial counter-narrative to the dominant, external forces that often dictate development policies (Naguimbing-Manlulu, 2021; Fleming et al., 2014).

The activism surrounding food sovereignty in the Philippines highlights the essential role of local governance in resisting the ongoing impacts of colonialism. As discussed in *The Modern/Colonial Food System in a Paradigm of War* by Felipe, Montalvo, and Zandi (2019), grassroots activism challenges the modern, colonial food systems that have historically marginalized indigenous practices and imposed exploitative structures. This activism is crucial in shifting the focus from global market-driven exploitation to localized, community-centered governance models that prioritize ecological sustainability and social equity.

For instance, local governance structures that actively involve community members in decision-making, such as the Barangay Integrated Development Approach (BIDA), are essential for building resilience against climate impacts. This bottom-up approach not only aligns with the principles of food sovereignty but also reinforces the autonomy of communities, allowing them to shape their development according to their unique cultural and environmental contexts (Balisacan & Pernia, 2002).

The grassroots activism described by Felipe, Montalvo, and Zandi (2019) also underscores the importance of reclaiming control over food systems from the grip of multinational corporations and global markets. Manifested in community-led initiatives, this activism empowers local populations to govern their resources and livelihoods in a way that reflects their values and needs. Organizations like the Pambansang Kilusan ng mga Samahang Magsasaka (PAKISAMA), a national federation of farmers' organizations, demonstrate how activism can drive sustainable agricultural practices that are deeply connected to local cultural and ecological contexts.

By promoting agroecology and community-led governance, these movements challenge the exploitative dynamics of the global food system and foster resilience at the local level. This shift not only challenges the legacy of colonialism but also lays the foundation for a more equitable and sustainable future where local communities are at the forefront of development (Felipe, Montalvo & Zandi, 2019).

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

Implications for Policy and Practice

This dissertation underscores the critical need to address climate change and food security in the Philippines through decolonizing development approaches that emphasize equity, inclusivity, and sustainability. The findings reveal that current policy frameworks, deeply entrenched in colonial legacies, often perpetuate power imbalances and fail to adequately meet the needs of marginalized communities. These colonial narratives are reflected in the persistent emphasis on market-driven solutions, technological fixes, and the prioritization of export-oriented agriculture over local food systems (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015). Such approaches have historically marginalized indigenous knowledge systems, undermining the potential for truly sustainable development (Briones, Cajiuat & Ramos, 1998).

To create a more just and effective policy landscape, it is essential to actively dismantle the colonial foundations that continue to shape current policies. This involves a critical re-examination of existing strategies, such as the Comprehensive Agrarian Reform Program (CARP), which should be restructured to address the historical injustices of land dispossession more effectively. Rather than merely redistributing land, CARP must empower indigenous and smallholder farmers to manage their land sustainably in ways that align with their cultural practices (Camba, 2018). This shift would promote greater local autonomy and resilience.

The ongoing emphasis on monoculture and cash crop production, which is a legacy of colonial agricultural policies, has significantly contributed to environmental degradation and food insecurity. Decolonizing agricultural policy requires a transition towards diversified farming systems that are both ecologically sustainable and culturally appropriate (Ferrando et al., 2021). Supporting agroecological practices that enhance biodiversity, restore soil health, and build resilience against climate change would not only promote environmental sustainability but also strengthen local food systems, ensuring that food sovereignty becomes a reality for communities across the Philippines (Smith, 2019).

The government's reliance on neoliberal economic policies, such as the Rice Tariffication Law, has further exposed the vulnerabilities in the current food security strategy. These policies often prioritize global market demands over local food needs, exacerbating food insecurity and leaving smallholder farmers susceptible to economic shocks (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015). A decolonized approach to food security would involve revising these policies to prioritize local production and consumption, reducing dependency on food imports, and protecting the livelihoods of local farmers (Mendoza, 2024).

Integrating indigenous knowledge into national policy frameworks is also vital for decolonizing development. Indigenous practices, which have sustained local ecosystems for centuries, offer valuable insights into sustainability and resilience (Davila, 2018). Policymakers must recognize the significance of these practices and create pathways for their inclusion in national climate adaptation and food security strategies. This approach would honor the cultural heritage of indigenous communities and provide context-specific solutions to the challenges posed by climate change (Mahony & Endfield, 2018).

The importance of these recommendations is further supported by the critical discourse analysis conducted by Knezevic et al. (2017), which highlights the tension between internalized dominant discourses and the emergence of alternative narratives focused on social justice and systemic change. In the context of the Philippines, this tension is evident as vulnerable communities often internalize narratives that blame them for their food insecurity, while simultaneously beginning to challenge these narratives by highlighting the structural factors rooted in colonial history and neoliberal policies. As these communities engage in discussions about food sovereignty and climate resilience, they develop a stronger sense of agency, which can contribute to more effective and equitable policy responses (Knezevic et al., 2017).

By acknowledging and addressing these tensions, policymakers can facilitate the development of more inclusive and responsive strategies that genuinely tackle the root causes of food insecurity and climate vulnerability. This approach requires a fundamental shift in how the interconnections between climate change, food security, and colonial legacies are

understood and addressed, moving towards policies that truly reflect the needs and aspirations of the most marginalized communities (Escobar, 1995).

Limitations and Future Research

While this dissertation offers significant insights into the colonial roots of climate change and food security challenges in the Philippines, it is important to acknowledge the limitations of the study. The scope of the discourse analysis was primarily confined to policy documents, academic literature, and media sources, which may not fully capture the lived experiences and perspectives of marginalized communities. For instance, the voices of indigenous groups or small-scale farmers may not be adequately represented, potentially leading to an incomplete understanding of how colonial narratives are sustained or challenged within different segments of society (Fairclough, 2003; Knezevic et al., 2014).

Moreover, the methodological approach used in this study, While effective in uncovering the power relations embedded in climate change and food security discourses, is inherently interpretative and subjective. The qualitative nature of this analysis means that the findings are influenced by the researcher's perspective, which could introduce potential biases, particularly in identifying and categorizing discourses (Foucault, 1972; Kendall & Wickham, 1999; Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2017). Additionally, the complexity of colonial and postcolonial contexts makes it difficult to disentangle historical influences from contemporary discourses fully, adding another layer of complexity to the analysis (Ashcroft, Griffiths, & Tiffin, 1995).

The study also emphasizes the impact of colonialism and capitalism on land and agricultural practices. However, other dimensions of colonial legacies, such as their influence on education, health, and governance, also warrant further exploration. These factors significantly contribute to contemporary climate vulnerabilities and should be examined in future research. Additionally, the role of international financial institutions and trade agreements in perpetuating neocolonial economic relations needs further investigation to provide a holistic understanding of the global forces that continue to shape local realities (Camba, 2018; McMichael, 2013).

Furthermore, while the research heavily relies on policy documents and public discourse as primary sources of data, there is an inherent limitation in assessing the actual impact of these discourses on the ground. The relationship between discourse and practice is complex, and while discourse analysis can reveal the ideologies and power structures embedded in language, it does not necessarily capture how these discourses translate into action or how they are perceived and resisted by the broader population (Van Dijk, 1993). For example, while the study identifies a disconnect between global climate mandates and local needs, further research is needed to understand how local communities are navigating these challenges in practice (Knezevic et al., 2014).

Finally, the potential of decolonizing development approaches, such as food sovereignty, presents a rich area for future research. Scholars and policymakers should focus on the practical implementation of these approaches, assessing their impact on food security, community resilience, and environmental sustainability. By documenting and analyzing successful case studies, future research can contribute to the development of policies that support resilient and just food systems in the Philippines and beyond (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Ferrando et al., 2021).

In summary, while this research provides critical insights into the enduring colonial legacies in Philippine climate change and food security discourses, it is crucial to acknowledge these limitations. Addressing these gaps through future research, particularly by incorporating a broader range of voices and employing mixed methods, will provide a more nuanced and comprehensive understanding of how historical power structures continue to shape contemporary policy and public discourse in the Philippines.

Conclusion

This dissertation has critically examined the colonial legacies that continue to shape the challenges of climate change and food security in the Philippines. By exposing the deeprooted power structures and inequalities that have persisted from the colonial era to the present, this study highlights the need for a fundamental shift in how these issues are addressed. Decolonizing development approaches—centered on food sovereignty, the integration of indigenous knowledge, and community empowerment—offer promising pathways for building a more just and sustainable future for the Philippines.

The study's findings underscore that the current policy landscape, influenced by colonial narratives, often exacerbates rather than alleviates the vulnerabilities of marginalized communities. As climate change intensifies, the urgency of adopting decolonizing approaches becomes increasingly clear. These approaches not only challenge the historical injustices that have shaped the Philippines' socio-economic landscape but also provide a framework for creating more resilient, equitable, and sustainable food systems.

Ultimately, decolonizing development is not just about rectifying past wrongs; it is about envisioning and building a future where all communities, particularly those most affected by climate change and food insecurity, have the power, resources, and agency to thrive. This dissertation contributes to this ongoing effort, offering insights and recommendations that can guide policymakers, scholars, and activists in their work to achieve a more just and sustainable world for the Philippines and beyond.

Future Research and Recommendations

The findings of this dissertation highlight several areas that warrant further investigation and suggest a number of recommendations for both academic research and policy practice. Future research should aim to address the limitations identified in this study and explore new dimensions of the colonial legacies affecting climate change and food security in the Philippines.

Expanding the Scope of Discourse Analysis

To provide a more comprehensive understanding of how colonial legacies continue to shape climate change and food security discourses, future studies should incorporate a broader range of voices, particularly those from marginalized communities such as indigenous peoples, small-scale farmers, and grassroots organizations. This could involve employing participatory research methods that allow these communities to actively contribute to the research process, ensuring their perspectives and experiences are adequately represented (Fleming et al., 2014; Fairclough, 2003). Additionally, expanding the scope of discourse analysis to include a wider variety of media, including social media, local publications, and community-based platforms, would offer a richer, more diverse set of data.

Regional Comparative Studies

Given the geographical limitations of this study, future research should conduct comparative analyses across different regions of the Philippines. Such studies could explore how regional variations in colonial history, cultural practices, and local economies influence the current challenges of climate change and food security. This approach would provide insights that are more applicable across different contexts within the country, offering a foundation for developing region-specific policy interventions that are culturally and environmentally appropriate (Holden, 2018; Mahony & Endfield, 2018).

Interdisciplinary Approaches to Colonial Legacies

Future research should adopt an interdisciplinary approach to explore other dimensions of colonial legacies, such as their influence on education, health, and governance. Understanding how these factors intersect with environmental vulnerabilities will provide a more holistic view of the challenges faced by marginalized communities in the Philippines. Furthermore, exploring the role of international financial institutions, trade agreements, and global economic policies in perpetuating neocolonial economic relations would offer valuable insights into the broader global forces that shape local realities (Camba, 2018; McMichael, 2013).

Practical Implementation of Decolonizing Development Approaches One of the most critical areas for future research is the practical implementation of decolonizing development approaches, such as food sovereignty. Scholars and policymakers should focus on evaluating the impact of these approaches on food security, community resilience, and environmental sustainability. By documenting and analyzing successful case studies, future research can contribute to the development of policies and practices that support resilient and just food systems. This includes examining how indigenous knowledge systems can be effectively integrated into national policy frameworks to enhance climate adaptation strategies (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Ferrando et al., 2021).

Recommendations for Policy Practice

Based on the findings of this dissertation, several recommendations can be made for policymakers. Firstly, there is a need to critically re-examine and restructure existing policies, such as the Comprehensive Agrarian Reform Program (CARP), to genuinely address historical injustices and empower indigenous and smallholder farmers. This should involve shifting from a focus on land redistribution to supporting sustainable land management practices that are aligned with local cultural traditions (Camba, 2018; Davila, 2018).

Secondly, policies should stop promoting monoculture and cash crop production, contributing to environmental degradation and food insecurity, and instead support diversified, ecologically sustainable farming systems. This shift would not only address ecological sustainability but also strengthen local food systems, making food sovereignty a reality for communities across the Philippines (Ferrando et al., 2021; Smith, 2019).

Lastly, policymakers need to revise neoliberal economic policies, such as the Rice Tariffication Law that prioritize global markets over local food needs and instead focus on local production and consumption, reduce dependency on food imports, and protect the livelihoods of smallholder farmers (Heckelman & Wittman, 2015; Mendoza, 2024). Integrating indigenous knowledge into national policy frameworks would further enhance the cultural relevance and effectiveness of climate adaptation strategies (Davila, 2018; Mahony & Endfield, 2018).

By pursuing these recommendations, policymakers can begin to dismantle the colonial legacies that continue to shape the Philippines' approach to climate change and food security, paving the way for a more just, equitable, and sustainable future.

References

- Acabado, S.B. and Martin, M.M. (2024). Older Is Not Necessarily Better: Decolonizing Ifugao History through the Archaeology of the Rice Terraces. *Land*, 13(2), pp.237– 237. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/land13020237.
- Adamson, G.C.D., Hannaford, M.J. and Rohland, E.J. (2018). Re-thinking the present: The role of a historical focus in climate change adaptation research. *Global Environmental Change*, [online] 48, pp.195–205. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.12.003</u>.
- AGHAM (2021). *Floods, Fascism, and Big Pharma SftP Magazine*. [online] Science for the People Magazine. Available at: <u>https://magazine.scienceforthepeople.org/vol24-1-</u>racial-capitalism/us-imperialism-in-the-philippines/ [Accessed 26 Aug. 2024].

Aguas, J., Quijano, A. and Vidal, J. (1987). W&M Scholar *The Philippines in the Twentieth Century: Social Change in Recent Decades*. [online] doi:https://doi.org/10.21220/

s2-1z70-0118.

- Alcock, R. (2008). *Speaking Food: A Discourse Analytic Study of Food Security*. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.bristol.ac.uk/media-library/sites/spais/migrated/documents/</u> alcock0709.pdf.
- Arceo, A. (2023). EXPLAINER: How does climate change affect farming and food security? [online] RAPPLER. Available at: <u>https://www.rappler.com/world/global-affairs/</u> explainer-climate-change-effects-farming-food-security/ [Accessed 26 Aug. 2024].
- Asian Development Bank. (2023). *Food Stamps Program*. Retrieved from https:// www.adb.org
- Balisacan, A. and Pernia, E. (2002). ERD POLICY BRIEF SERIES What Else Besides Growth Matters to Poverty Reduction? Philippines Asian Development Bank. [online]
 Available at: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/28062/pb005.pdf.

Balisacan, A.M. (1991). Dynamics of Rural Development.

- Balisacan, A.M. (1994). Poverty, Urbanization, and Development Policy. University of Philippines Press.
- Bankoff, G. (2003). Constructing Vulnerability: The Historical, Natural and Social Generation of Flooding in Metropolitan Manila. Disasters, 27(3), 224-238.

Beltran, M. and Win, T.L. (2023). Filipino farmers' profits disappear, and hunger looms.

[online] The New Humanitarian. Available at: <u>https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/</u> analysis/2023/07/27/Filipino-farmers-profits-hunger-looms.

- Brigg, M. and Bleiker, R. (2017). Chapter 1. Postcolonial Conflict Resolution. University of Hawaii Press eBooks, pp.19–37. doi:https://doi.org/10.1515/9780824860967-003.
- Briones, A., Cajiuat, J. and Ramos, C.G. (1998). Food Security Perspectives : Focus on Asia and the Philippines by. [online] www.semanticscholar.org. Available at: https://
 www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Food-Security-Perspectives-%3A-Focus-on-Asia-and-the-Briones-Cajiuat/773b216181a5114235ccb09e819824963e6af5ee.
- Bullard, R. D. (2000). *Dumping in Dixie: Race, class, and environmental quality*. Westview Press.
- Camba, A.A. (2018). The food regime in late colonial Philippines: Pathways of appropriation and unpaid work. *Journal of Agrarian Change*, 19(1), pp.101–121. doi:<u>https://doi.org/</u>10.1111/joac.12269.
- Castro, D. de and Pegorari, B. (2017). The International Institutions As Promoters of Systemic and Symbolic Violence Feminist Approach to the Climate Change Regime. SSRN Electronic Journal. doi:https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3051190.
- Chang, H.-J., & Grabel, I. (2014). *Reclaiming Development: An Alternative Economic Policy Manual.* Zed Books.
- Clapp, J. and Helleiner, E. (2012). Troubled futures? The global food crisis and the politics of agricultural derivatives regulation. *Review of International Political Economy*, 19(2), pp.181–207. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/09692290.2010.514528.
- Climate-Diplomacy. (1946). *Land Conflict in the Philippines*. [online] Available at: https:// climate-diplomacy.org/case-studies/land-conflictphilippines#:~:text=The%20colonial%20system%20promoted%20large [Accessed 11 Aug. 2024].
- Corpuz, O. (1997). *Food Security and Rice A Historical Background; A Road to the Future*. [online] *PUBLIC POLICY*. Available at: <u>https://cids.up.edu.ph/wp-content/uploads/</u>2022/03/Food-Security-and-Rice-vol.1-no.1-Oct-Dec-1997-7.pdf.
- Corpuz, O.D. (1992). Land and Agriculture in the Philippines: An Economic History Perspective. *Philippine Review of Economics*, [online] 29(2). Available at: https:// pre.econ.upd.edu.ph/index.php/pre/article/view/153/699.

- David Max Findley, Amano, N., Biong, I., Bankoff, G., Patricia Irene Dacudao, Gealogo, F., Hamilton, R., Ruel Pagunsan and Roberts, P. (2024). Colonial policy, ecological transformations, and agricultural 'improvement': comparing agricultural yields and expansion in the Spanish and U.S. Philippines, 1870–1925 CE. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, [online] 11(1). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1057/</u> s41599-024-03310-z.
- Davidson, J.S. (2016). Why the Philippines Chooses to Import Rice. *Critical Asian Studies*, 48(1), pp.100–122. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/14672715.2015.1129184.
- Davila, F. (2018). Human Ecology and Food Systems: Insights from the Philippines. *Human Ecology Review*, [online] 24(1), pp.23–50. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/26506660.
- De Leon, A. (n.d.). Perspective | What is forgotten in the U.S.-Philippines friendship. *Washington Post*. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/made-by-</u> history/2022/09/25/what-is-forgotten-us-philippines-friendship/.
- Duvisac, S. (2022). *Decolonize! What does it mean?* [online] Oxfam Policy & Practice. Available at: <u>https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/decolonize-what-does-it-</u>mean-621456/.
- Escobar, A. (1995). *Encountering development: The making and unmaking of the Third World*. Princeton University Press.
- Fairclough, N. (1992). *Discourse and Social Change*. Cambridge: Polity Press, as explained by Jørgensen, M. W. & Phillips, L. (2002). *Discourse Analysis as Theory and Method*, p. 61. London: Sage.
- Fairclough, N. (2003). Analysing discourse: Textual analysis for social research. London: Routledge.
- Felipe, M., Montalvo, G. and Zandi, H. (2019). *The Modern/Colonial Food System in a Paradigm of War co-authored by*. [online] Available at: <u>https://live-ethnic-studies.pantheon.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/24/mcfspw.pdf</u>.
- Ferrando, T., Claeys, P., Diesner, D., Jose Luis Vivero-Pol and Woods, D. (2021a). Commons and commoning for a just agroecological transition. *Routledge eBooks*, pp.61–84. doi:https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429433566-4.
- Ferrando, T., Claeys, P., Diesner, D., Vivero Pol, J.L. and Woods, D. (2021b). *Commons and commoning for a just agroecological transition: the importance of de-colonising and*

de-commodifying our food system. [online] Coventry University. Available at: https:// pureportal.coventry.ac.uk/en/publications/commons-and-commoning-for-a-justagroecological-transition-the-im.

- Fleming, A., Vanclay, F., Hiller, C. and Wilson, S. (2014). Challenging dominant discourses of climate change. *Climatic Change*, 127(3-4), pp.407–418. doi:<u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1007/s10584-014-1268-z.
- Gerrard, B. (2023). ECOS 43 (3.5)- Conflict, Post-Colonialism and Conservation: Endings and Beginnings. [online] ECOS - Challenging Conservation. Available at: https:// www.ecos.org.uk/ecos-43-3-5-conflict-post-colonialism-and-conservation-endingsand-beginnings/ [Accessed 1 Aug. 2024].
- Ghosh, A. (2021). *The Nutmeg's Curse: Parables for a Planet in Crisis*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Gordon, C., Hunt, K.P. and Dutta, M.J. (2022). Editorial: Food systems communication amid compounding crises: Power, resistance, and change. *Frontiers in Communication*, 7. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2022.1041474.

Greenpeace. (2023). Greenpeace Report on Climate and Food Security.

- Heckelman, A. and Wittman, H. (2015). Food Sovereignty: A Framework for Assessing Agrarian Responses to Climate Change in the Philippines. ASEAS -Austrian Journal of South-East Asian Studies, [online] 8(1), pp.87–94. doi:<u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.14764/10.ASEAS-2015.1-6.
- Holden, W.N. (2018). Typhoons, Climate Change, and Climate Injustice in the Philippines. *Austrian Journal of South-East Asian Studies*, [online] 11(1), pp.117–139. doi:https:// doi.org/10.14764/10.ASEAS-2018.1-7.

Inquirer Business. (2023). The Nexus Between Food Insecurity and National Security.

- International Rice Research Institute. (2020). *The Impact of the Rice Tariffication Law on Farmers' Income and Rice Production*. Los Baños, Philippines: IRRI.
- Islam, S.N. and Winkel, J. (2017). *Climate Change and Social Inequality*. [online] Available at: https://www.un.org/esa/desa/papers/2017/wp152_2017.pdf.
- Iyer, L., Maurer, N. and School, H. (n.d.). Colonial rule, property rights and economic development in the Philippines *. [online] Available at: <u>https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/soc/</u> economics/seminars/seminars/conferences/econchange/programme/iyer-venice.pdf.

- Jack, G., Plahe, J. and Wright, S. (2022). EXPRESS: Development as Freedom? Insights from a Farmer-led Sustainable Agriculture NGO in the Philippines. *Human Relations*, p.001872672210907. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/00187267221090779.
- Jane Calkins Forster (2024). *The Encomienda System in the Philippine Islands : 1571-1597*. [online] Loyola eCommons. Available at: https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses/1010/ [Accessed 11 Aug. 2024].
- Jarosz, L. (2014). Comparing food security and food sovereignty discourses. *Dialogues in Human Geography*, 4(2), pp.168–181. doi:<u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1177/2043820614537161.
- Knezevic, I., Hunter, H., Watt, C., Williams, P. and Anderson, B. (2014). FOOD INSECURITY AND PARTICIPATION. *Critical Discourse Studies*, 11(2), pp.230– 245. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/17405904.2013.866590.
- Lockhart, J. (1969). Encomienda and Hacienda: The Evolution of the Great Estate in the Spanish Indies. *Hispanic American Historical Review*, [online] 49(3), pp.411–429. doi:https://doi.org/10.1215/00182168-49.3.411.
- Los Trinos, R.D. (2022). [OPINION] Food insecurity and the politics of codependency. [online] RAPPLER. Available at: <u>https://www.rappler.com/voices/imho/opinion-food-</u>insecurity-politics-codependency/.
- Mahajani, U. (1974). American neo-colonialism in the Philippines. *Bulletin of Concerned Asian Scholars*, 6(4), pp.62–64. doi:<u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1080/14672715.1974.10413011.
- Makondo, C.C. and Thomas, D.S.G. (2018). Climate change adaptation: Linking indigenous knowledge with western science for effective adaptation. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 88(88), pp.83–91. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.06.014.
- McDonald, M. (2013). Discourses of climate security. *Political Geography*, 33, pp.42–51. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2013.01.002.
- Mendoza, G.F. (2024). Persistence of Chronic Hunger Exposes Gaps in National Food Security Strategies. [online] phkule.org. Available at: <u>https://phkule.org/article/1110/</u> persistence-of-chronic-hunger-exposes-gaps-in-national-food-security-strategies.
- Moore, D.C., Williams, P., Chrisman, L., Ashcroft, B., Griffiths, G. and Tiffin, H. (1995). Colonial Discourse and Post-Colonial Theory: A Reader. *South Atlantic Review*,

[online] 60(4), p.168. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/3201254.

- Naguimbing-Manlulu, M.F. (2021). Climate change narratives in Philippine print news media. *Media Asia*, pp.1–17. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/01296612.2021.1944541.
- Nobutaka, S. (2023). Vol. 12, No. 3, Suzuki Nobutaka | CSEAS Journal, Southeast Asian Studies. [online] CSEAS Journal, Southeast Asian Studies |. Available at: https:// englishkyoto-seas.org/2023/12/vol-12-no-3-suzuki-nobutaka/ [Accessed 9 Aug. 2024].
- Office of the President of the Philippines. (2010). *National Framework Strategy on Climate Change, 2010–2022*.
- Office of the President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission. (2010). *National Climate Change Action Plan.*
- Pasadilla, G., Corong, E., & Taningco, A. (n.d.). Agriculture Trade Reform Leads to Fewer Poor but Poorer Poor in the Philippines.
- Pasion, L. (2023). FACT CHECK: Gov't hasn't allocated P1 trillion for the National Food Security Convergence Program. [online] RAPPLER. Available at: https:// www.rappler.com/newsbreak/fact-check/government-has-not-allocated-one-trillionnational-food-security-convergence-program/ [Accessed 26 Aug. 2024].

Republic Act No. 9729. (2009). The Climate Change Act of 2009.

- R. l., M. and Kulkarni, N. (2024). Does the financialization of agricultural commodities impact food security? An empirical investigation. *Borsa Istanbul Review*. [online] doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bir.2024.01.001.
- Rafael, V.L. (2009). Welcoming What Comes: Sovereignty and Revolution in the Colonial Philippines. *Comparative Studies in Society and History*, 52(1), pp.157–179. doi:https://doi.org/10.1017/s0010417509990363.
- Rafael, V.L. (2018). Colonial Contractions: The Making of the Modern Philippines, 1565– 1946. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Asian History. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/</u> acrefore/9780190277727.013.268.
- Reyes, V. (2020). Perspective | After more than a century, did the Philippines finally break free from the United States? [online] Washington Post. Available at: https:// www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2020/02/21/after-more-than-century-didphilippines-finally-break-free-united-states/.

- Robles, A. (2019). *The anti-democratic legacy of Spanish and US colonialism in the Philippines*. [online] D+C. Available at: <u>https://www.dandc.eu/en/article/anti-</u> democratic-legacy-spanish-and-us-colonialism-philippines.
- Rodan, G. (2019). Inequality and Political Representation in the Philippines and Singapore. *Journal of Contemporary Asia*, pp.1–29. doi:<u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1080/00472336.2019.1607531.
- Rodriguez, F. (2014). *How climate change threatens our food security*. [online] RAPPLER. Available at: <u>https://www.rappler.com/moveph/52992-climate-change-food-security-ph/</u>.
- Schlosberg, D. (2007). *Defining environmental justice: Theories, movements, and nature*. Oxford University Press.
- Singh, N. (2023). Climate Justice in the Global South: Understanding the Environmental Legacy of Colonialism. [online] E-International Relations. Available at: https:// www.e-ir.info/2023/02/02/climate-justice-in-the-global-south-understanding-theenvironmental-legacy-of-colonialism/.
- Smith, A. (2019). *The Role of Neoliberal Policies in Philippine Agriculture*. Journal of International Development, 31(4), 495-509.
- Smith, D. H. (1986). American Atrocities in the Philippines: Some New Evidence. Pacific Historical Review, 55(2), pp.281–283.
- Smith, W. (2019). 'Drought, Food Insecurity, and Cultures of Hunger in the Philippines.' Disaster Archipelago : Locating Vulnerability and Resilience in the Philippines. Lanham: Lexington Books, p.165.
- Sobrevinas, A., Bancolita, J., Reyes, C., & De Jesus, J. (n.d.). *Analysis of the Impact of the Changes in the Price of Rice and Fuel on Poverty in the Philippines.*
- Staff, C.B. (2023). Revealed: How colonial rule radically shifts historical responsibility for climate change. [online] Carbon Brief. Available at: <u>https://www.carbonbrief.org/</u> revealed-how-colonial-rule-radically-shifts-historical-responsibility-for-climatechange/.
- Steen, K. and Goffi, E. (2016). 'Come Hell or High Water' A Comparative Analysis of Policy Frames surrounding Adaptation Strategies of Climate-affected Pacific Island Countries. [online] Available at: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/student-papers/record/8878454/</u>

file/8878455.pdf [Accessed 14 Aug. 2024].

- Stephenson, E.S. and Stephenson, P.H. (2016). The Political Ecology of Cause and Blame. A Companion to the Anthropology of Environmental Health, pp.302–324. doi:https:// doi.org/10.1002/9781118786949.ch15.
- Sultana, F. (2023). Climate Coloniality Dr. Farhana Sultana. [online] Dr. Farhana Sultana. Available at: <u>https://www.farhanasultana.com/climate-coloniality/</u> #:~:text=Scholars%20have%20demonstrated%20that%20the [Accessed 14 Aug. 2024].
- Suzuki, N. (2023). Entangled Island: Filipino Colonial Technocrats, the Philippine
 Legislature, and Mindanao Settlement Plans from the 1920s through the Late 1930s.
 Southeast Asian Studies, [online] 12(3), pp.463–498. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.20495/</u>
 seas.12.3 463.
- Theriault, N. (2019). Unravelling the strings attached: Philippine indigeneity in law and practice. *Journal of Southeast Asian Studies*, [online] 50(1), pp.107–128. doi:https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022463419000018.
- Tolentino, B. (2006). Food security and the threat from within : rice policy reforms in the Philippines.
- Trinidad, M. (2023). Imperialism and the Political Economy of Climate Adaptation in the Philippines. [online] kb.osu.edu. Available at: <u>https://kb.osu.edu/items/fdb87d96-</u> d4c3-4c83-bf6f-57f91b073162.
- Trombetta, M.J. (2009). Environmental Security and Climate change: Analysing the Discourse. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 21(4), pp.585–602. doi:https:// doi.org/10.1080/09557570802452920.
- Varanasi, A. (2022). How Colonialism Spawned and Continues to Exacerbate the Climate Crisis. [online] State of the Planet. Available at: <u>https://news.climate.columbia.edu/</u> 2022/09/21/how-colonialism-spawned-and-continues-to-exacerbate-the-climatecrisis/.
- Warren, J. (2020). Climate, Weather and Pestilence in the Philippines Since the Sixteenth Century. Springer eBooks. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36264-5_5.
- Wittman, H. (2023). Food sovereignty: An inclusive model for feeding the world and cooling the planet. One Earth, 6(5), pp.474–478. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/</u>

j.oneear.2023.04.011.

Wodak, R., & Meyer, M. (2009). Methods for critical discourse analysis. Sage.

www.fao.org. (2006). The State of Food and Agriculture 2006. [online] Available at: https://

www.fao.org/4/a0800e/a0800e00.htm.

Appendix

Appendix A: Selected Texts for Discourse Analysis

The research utilized these materials to conduct a comprehensive discourse analysis on the influence of colonial legacies on climate change and food security in the Philippines. Policy Documents

1. Philippine Development Plan (2017-2022)

This document outlines the government's strategic goals, including its approach to climate change and food security. Analyzing this plan will provide insights into how the government frames these issues within the broader context of national development, potentially reflecting colonial legacies (GPH, 2017).

- 2. Climate Change Act of 2009 (Republic Act No. 9729) This act established the Climate Change Commission (CCC) and is central to understanding the Philippines' policy framework for climate adaptation and mitigation. The language of this act will be scrutinized to uncover any colonial biases that may influence its implementation (GPH, 2009).
- 3. Indigenous Peoples' Rights Act (IPRA) of 1997 This act is crucial for understanding how indigenous rights are incorporated into the Philippines' environmental policies. The analysis will focus on how the act addresses or fails to address the historical marginalization of indigenous knowledge systems (Theriault, 2019).
- 4. National Framework Strategy on Climate Change, 2010–2022

This document, issued by the Office of the President of the Philippines, outlines the national strategy for climate change mitigation and adaptation. It will be examined for how it aligns with or diverges from colonial-era policies (Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010).

5. National Climate Change Action Plan

This action plan, developed by the Climate Change Commission, provides a detailed roadmap for addressing climate change impacts in the Philippines. The document will be analyzed to see if it perpetuates colonial power dynamics (Office of the President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission, 2010).

Academic Literature

- Heckelman, A., & Wittman, H. (2015) "Food Sovereignty: A Framework for Assessing Agrarian Res- ponses to Climate Change in the Philippines." Their work on food sovereignty offers a theoretical foundation for analyzing resistance to colonial agricultural models. This research will draw on their insights to explore how food sovereignty movements challenge the dominant, colonial-informed discourses on food security.
- 2. Forster, J. C. (2024). "The Encomienda System in the Philippine Islands: 1571-1597" This study provides historical context for contemporary land-use issues in the Philippines. It will be used to trace the colonial origins of current agricultural practices and their environmental impacts.
- 3. Pasadilla, G., Corong, E., & Taningco, A. (n.d.). "Agriculture Trade Reform Leads to Fewer Poor but Poorer Poor in the Philippines." Their research on agricultural trade reform in the Philippines will be used to examine the economic dimensions of food insecurity, focusing on how trade policies may perpetuate colonial legacies.

Media Articles

- **1.** Rappler
 - Rodriguez, F. (2014). "How Climate Change Threatens Our Food Security" This article discusses the impact of climate change on food security in the Philippines, providing a contemporary media perspective on the issues.
 - Los Trinos, R.D. (2022). "[OPINION] Food Insecurity and the Politics of Codependency" This opinion piece explores the intersection of food insecurity and political dynamics in the Philippines, offering critical insights into the ongoing influence of colonial legacies on contemporary issues.
 - Arceo, A. (2023). "Explainer: How Does Climate Change Affect Farming and Food Security?"

This piece offers insights into the public discourse on climate change and agriculture in the Philippines, highlighting potential colonial narratives.

- **2.** The Philippine Daily Inquirer
 - "The Nexus Between Food Insecurity and National Security"
 This article explores the connections between food insecurity and national

security, providing a lens to examine how colonial legacies may influence current policies.

- **3.** ABS-CBN News
 - "DSWD Chief Gatchalian Tells Gadon Poverty is Real" This article will be used to analyze how poverty, a significant factor in food insecurity, is discussed in the media and whether these discussions reflect colonial biases.

International Reports

1. Greenpeace (2023)

Greenpeace Report on Climate and Food Security: This report provides a global perspective on climate change and food security, which will be analyzed to see how international viewpoints are localized in the Philippine context.

2. World Bank (2010)

A Strategic Approach to Climate Change in the Philippines: This report by the World Bank was examined to understand the influence of international financial institutions on Philippine climate policies and how they may perpetuate neocolonial dynamics.

3. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)

These reports will be used to analyze how international perspectives on climate change and food security are reflected in Philippine policies and whether these perspectives reinforce or challenge colonial legacies.

Online Sources

1. La Via Campesina (n.d.)

Land Grabbing in the Philippine: This online resource discusses land grabbing in the Philippines, providing context for understanding the ongoing impacts of colonial land policies.

2. The New Humanitarian (2023)

Filipino Farmers' Profits and Hunger Looms: This article offers an in-depth analysis of the challenges facing Filipino farmers, linking them to broader discussions on food insecurity and colonial legacies.

3. PhKule (2023)

Persistence of Chronic Hunger Exposes Gaps in National Food Security Strategies:

This article will be used to critique national food security strategies and examine how they are influenced by historical inequalities.

4. Washington Post (2020)

After More Than a Century, Did the Philippines Finally Break Free from the United States?: This article provides historical insights into the long-lasting effects of U.S. colonial rule on the Philippines, which will be contextualized within the broader discourse analysis.

Category	Code	Example from Text	Description
Colonial Power Structures	Colonial Rhetoric	"progress," "modernization," "development" (National Framework Strategy on Climate Change, 2010-2022, Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010)	Language that echoes colonial- era rhetoric, emphasizing Western models of progress and modernization.
	Marginali zation of Indigenou s Practices	"outdated practices," "in need of modernization" (National Climate Change Action Plan, Office of the President of the Philippines, Climate Change Commission, 2010)	Discourses that depict indigenous practices as inferior or needing replacement by modern techniques.
	Global Competiti veness	"global competitiveness," "economic growth" (Agriculture Trade Reform Leads to Fewer Poor but Poorer Poor in the Philippines, Pasadilla, Corong, & Taningco, n.d.)	Terms that prioritize integration into global markets over local sustainability and equity.
Colonial Dependenc y	Reliance on Foreign Aid	"support from international partners," "increased international cooperation" (National Framework Strategy on Climate Change, 2010-2022, Office of the President of the Philippines, 2010)	Emphasis on the need for external assistance, reflecting dependency on former colonial powers or global institutions.
	Conformit y to Global Standards	"align with global standards" (A Strategic Approach to Climate Change in the Philippines, World Bank, 2010)	Discourses that suggest local systems must conform to international norms, often at the expense of local needs.
Governme nt as Savior	State-Led Initiatives	"the government shall lead," "state-led initiatives" (Republic Act No. 9729, The Climate Change Act of 2009)	Language that positions the government as the primary actor in solving climate change and food security issues.
	Central Authority	"government will lead," "government as protector" (DSWD Chief Gatchalian Tells Gadon Poverty is Real, ABS-CBN, 2023)	Narratives that reinforce the centrality of the state, often marginalizing grassroots or community-led efforts.
Tension Between Global and Local	Misalign ment of Global Policies	"global policies do not always align with local needs" (Greenpeace Report on Climate and Food Security, Greenpeace, 2023)	Acknowledgement of the disconnect between global mandates and local realities, especially in climate policies.
	Local Empower ment	"empowering local communities" (Food Sovereignty: A Framework for Assessing Agrarian Responses to Climate Change in the Philippines, Heckelman & Wittman, 2015)	Calls for strengthening local capacities and governance to address climate change and food security.
Economic Exploitatio n and Inequality	Trade Reforms and Poverty Impact	"trade reforms have benefited the rich while impoverishing the poor" (Agriculture Trade Reform Leads to Fewer Poor but Poorer Poor in the Philippines, Pasadilla, Corong, & Taningco, n.d.)	Critique of neoliberal policies that disproportionately harm marginalized populations, worsening inequalities.
	Corporate Dominanc e	"corporate dominance," "foreign investment" (Viacampesina, Land Grabbing in Philippine, 2023)	Terms highlighting the influence of multinational corporations in local agriculture, often to the detriment of smallholder farmers.

Appendix B - Coding for Discourse Analysis

	Financiali zation of Agricultur e	"global value chains," "financialization of agriculture" (A Strategic Approach to Climate Change in the Philippines, World Bank, 2010)	Language reflecting the integration of agriculture into volatile global markets, increasing local vulnerabilities.
Resilience Through Decolonizi ng Approache s	Food Sovereign ty	"right to produce food," "culturally appropriate" (Food Sovereignty: A Framework for Assessing Agrarian Responses to Climate Change in the Philippines, Heckelman & Wittman, 2015)	Discourses advocating for local control over food systems, challenging the global capitalist structures.
	Agroecolo gy and Commoni ng	"food as a commons," "liberation from global markets" (Ferrando et al., 2021)	Concepts promoting communal management of resources, countering privatization and market-driven approaches.
	Integratio n of Indigenou s Knowledg e	"indigenous practices," "ecologically sustainable" (Analysis of the Impact of the Changes in the Price of Rice and Fuel on Poverty in the Philippines, Sobrevinas et al., n.d.)	Recognition and promotion of traditional knowledge systems in sustainable development and climate adaptation.
	Communit y-Led Governan ce	"grassroots activism," "community-centered governance" (Persistence of Chronic Hunger Exposes Gaps in National Food Security Strategies, Phkule, 2023)	Narratives emphasizing the role of local governance and grassroots movements in building resilience.